COMPARISON BETWEEN CHEMICAL AND TISSUE CULTURE METHODS TO MONITOR ENVIRONMENTAL ESTROGENS



A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Magister Scientiae (M.Sc.) Medical Biosciences in the Department of Medical Biosciences, Faculty of Natural Sciences, University of the Western Cape, South Africa.

Supervisor: Professor E.J. Pool

May 2012

COMPARISON BETWEEN CHEMICAL AND TISSUE CULTURE METHODS TO MONITOR ENVIRONMENTAL ESTROGENS

Richard Baguma

KEY WORDS

Endocrine disrupting compounds			
Bioassay			
Enzyme-linked immu	inosorbent assay		
Cell culture	. <u></u>		
Steroidogenesis	UNIVERSITY of the		
Pollution	WESTERN CAPE		
Androgens			
Anti-androgens			
Estrogens			
Progesterone			

ABSTRACT

COMPARISON BETWEEN CHEMICAL AND TISSUE CULTURE METHODS TO MONITOR ENVIRONMENTAL ESTROGENS

R. Baguma

M.Sc. Thesis, Department of Medical Biosciences, University of the Western Cape.

Endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) are exogenous compounds/chemicals in the environment that interfere with the synthesis, secretion, distribution and function or elimination of natural hormones in the body. Environmental estrogens are a subclass of EDCs that may mimic or inhibit the effect of endogenous estrogen and can therefore influence developmental and reproductive health in humans and animals. EDCs have been reported to adversely affect the reproductive, immune, endocrine and nervous systems of wildlife and humans. The effects of EDCs include gonadal abnormalities, altered male/female sex ratios, reduced fertility and cancers of the male and female reproductive tract to mention a few. These effects are difficult to detect. Although it is essential to screen for EDCs in aqueous environmental samples, most countries have failed to implement this as part of their routine water quality monitoring programs due to various constraints such as the high cost of assays and the lack of infrastructure and skills required to do the assays. Therefore, there is a clear need for more user-friendly, more

economically viable and time saving assays that can be used for routine monitoring of environmental EDCs.

The aim of this study was to investigate the comparison between chemical and tissue culture methods to monitor environmental estrogens. 28 environmental water samples were collected from various sites around South Africa and analyzed for EDCs using a battery of rapid *in vitro* tests. Samples collected for the current study were selected based on various human impacts and also to give approximately 50% high and 50% low estrogen values. The 28 environmental water samples were separated into two groups based on the estradiol ELISA. The estradiol ELISA was chosen because estradiol is the principal estrogen found in all mammalian species during their reproductive years. For this separation, an estradiol level of 5 pg/ml was used as cut-off. Of the 28 samples investigated, 15 had estradiol levels higher than 5 pg/ml and were designated as high estradiol. The remaining 13 samples contained estradiol at 5 pg/ml or less and they were designated as low estradiol.

UNIVERSITY of the

The first objective of this study was to compare different rapid ELISAs for EDC monitoring to determine if the data obtained with these assays are similar/identical. The data obtained from the estrogenic ELISAs was related/similar and showed good correlation with each other. This is because the different estrogens are very similar and also due to the fact that the same sub-group in the population (the reproductively active females) is secreting these hormones. Therefore, an estradiol rapid assay was proposed as a first screening system for estrogens in samples. Even though there was a positive correlation between the estradiol rapid assay and testosterone rapid assay, separation of samples based on estradiol levels wasn't a good predictor of testosterone levels in the samples. A testosterone rapid assay was therefore recommended as necessary to screen for androgens in samples. The positive correlation between the estradiol rapid assay and

iv

progesterone rapid assay was expected because both estradiol and progesterone are secreted and excreted by the same population sub-group (reproductively active females). This study also demonstrated a good predictability of separating samples containing progesterone using the estradiol ELISA. Progesterone is secreted by pregnant women, a sub-group of the reproductively active females. It is advised that a progesterone rapid assay be included to screen samples for progestogens.

The second objective of this study was to compare estradiol rapid ELISAs with a bioassay for anti-androgenicity using mouse testicular cell cultures. The mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay to monitor anti-androgenicity of the samples showed no correlation between the ELISA data for estrogens. This study shows that anti-androgenic effects need to be monitored independently because the data for estrogenic compounds cannot be used as a predictor for anti-androgenic effects. This demonstrated the need for the inclusion of a mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay to screen for androgenicity and anti-androgenicity of water samples.

In summary, due to the different mechanisms of action of EDCs, this study recommended a battery of assays to monitor for EDCs. The battery of assays suggested is:

- Estradiol ELISA as a rapid assay to screen for estrogens.
- Testosterone ELISA as a rapid assay to screen for androgens.
- Progesterone ELISA as a rapid assay to screen for progestogens.
- Mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay to screen for androgenicity and antiandrogenicity.

May 2012

DECLARATION

I, **Richard Baguma** declare that the thesis entitled '*Comparison between chemical and tissue culture methods to monitor environmental estrogens*' is my own work, that it has not been submitted for any degree or examination in any other university, and that all the sources I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by complete references.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my indebtedness and profound regard for my supervisor, Prof. E.J. Pool. Thank you for the opportunity to train with you on this interesting project. You have been a solid source of support, guidance and inspiration. Your ability to put everything in perspective together with your knowledge of ecotoxicology, have inspired me to be a better scientist.

To all the past and present members of the Ecotoxicology and Immunology laboratory, who made it a 'cool' group to be part of, thank you for the pleasant work environment and for taking an interest in my work. To V. Makene, thanks for all the insightful discussions during the writing up of this thesis. Furthermore to Dr. Y. Shoko, for her time and effort proof reading this thesis.

To my dear parents, Shem and Florence, my sincere gratitude for the support and encouragement which have made everything in my life possible.

To my siblings, Diane, Ronnie and Miriam, I deeply appreciate the love and inspiration that have kept me motivated when I needed it most through many tough years.

To my wonderful girlfriend, Cynthia, thank you for the love, for tirelessly bearing my rants, for the encouragement and patience during my seemingly never-ending academic career.

Lastly, but certainly not least, I would like to thank God for providing me with the ability, talent, patience and perseverance to complete this stage of my education.

This work is dedicated to the loving memory of my friend, Lumuli Mughogho (RIP), whose life was tragically cut short a few days before I completed this thesis.

vii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Keywords	ii
Abstract	iii
Declaration	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
Table of contents	viii
List of abbreviations	xi
List of figures	xvi
List of tables	xviii
CHAPTER 1: Literature Review	1
An introduction to Endocrine Disrupting Compounds (EDCs)	1
1.1 Endocrine Disrupting Compounds (EDCs)	1
1.2 Properties of EDCs UNIVERSITY of the	2
1.3 Mechanisms of action of EDCs	3
1.4 Classes and sources of EDCs	4
1.5 Effects of EDCs on ecosystems	7
1.6 Effects of EDCs on humans	8
1.6.1 Pharmaceuticals	8
1.6.2 Reproductive Hormones	9
1.7 Biomarkers for EDCs	9
1.7.1 Vitellogenin (VTG) as a biomarker of exposure to EDCs	9
1.7.2 Steroidogenesis Using Minced Testes Assay	12
1.7.3 Breeding (nuptial) gland morphology	13

viii

1.7.4 Dimorphism indicators: anal fin (gonopodium) in mosquitofish		15
1.7.5 Cytochrome P450 (CYP)		
1.7.6 Metallothioneins (MTs)		18
1.7.7 Heat Sho	ock Proteins (HSPs)	20
1.8 In vitro assays for	screening EDCs	22
1.8.1 Immuno	assays for specific EDCs	23
1.8.2 E-Screen	1 assay	24
1.8.3 The Rec	ombinant Yeast Screen Assay (YES)	25
1.8.4 High-per	rformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas	
chromatography (GC) for EDC determination		27
1.8.5 Minced testes assay		29
1.8.6 Frog and fish in vitro liver assays		30
CHAPTER 2: Problem Statement and Aim		34
CHAPTER 3	UNIVERSITY of the	36
3.1 Introduction	WESTERN CAPE	36
3.2 Materials and Methods		40
3.2.1 Reagents	s and chemicals	40
3.2.2 Animals		40
3.2.3 Water Sampling		40
3.2.4 Detection of steroid hormones in water		41
3.2.4.1	Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) of water samples	41
3.2.4.2 Estrone (E1) ELISA analysis of water extracts		41
3.2.4.3 Estradiol (E2) ELISA analysis of water extracts		
3.2.4.4 Testosterone ELISA analysis of water extracts		43

3.2.4.5 Progesterone ELISA analysis of water extracts	44
3.2.4.6 Estriol (E3) ELISA analysis of water extracts	45
3.2.4.7 Ethinylestradiol (EE2) ELISA analysis of water extracts	46
3.2.5 The effects of water extracts on testicular culture testosterone	
synthesis	47
3.2.5.1 Preparation of testicular cells	47
3.2.5.2 Testicular cell culture bioassays on water extracts	47
3.2.5.3 Statistical analysis	48
3.3 Results and Discussion	
3.3.1 Steroid hormone detection in water samples using specific ELISAs	49
3.3.2 Comparison between data obtained using the panel of estrogen	
ELISAs for monitoring water samples	50
3.3.3 Comparison between 17β -estradiol rapid assay and the rapid assays	
for other steroid hormones	57
3.3.4 Comparison between 17β-estradiol rapid assay and the mouse	
testicular cell testosterone synthesis assay	62
3.4 Conclusion	65
CHAPTER 4: Recommendations	68
REFERENCES	70

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

%	- percent
7-ER	- 7-ethoxyresorufin
⁰ C -	- degrees Celsius
μl	- microliters
AhR	- Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
ANOVA	- Analysis of variance
ATP	- adenosine triphosphate
BBP	- Butyl benzyl phthalate
BPA	- Bisphenol A
Ca ²⁺	- Calcium cation
СО	- Carbon monoxide
CO_2	- Carbon dioxideUNIVERSITY of the
CPRG	- chlorophenol red- β -D-galactopyranoside
CNS	- Central nervous system
СҮР	- Cytochrome P450
Da	- Dalton
DDT	- dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
DES	- Diethylstilbestrol
DMSO	- Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	- deoxyribonucleic acid
E1	- Estrone

E2	- 17β-estradiol
E3	- Estrone
EC	- Electrochemical
EDCs	- Endocrine disrupting compounds
EDSTAC	- Endocrine Disruptor Screening and Testing Advisory Committee
EE2	- 17α-Ethinylestradiol
EI	- Electron impact
ELISA	- Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPA	- Environmental Protection Agency
ER	- Estrogen receptor
ERα	- Estrogen receptor alpha
ERβ	- Estrogen receptor beta
ERE	- Estrogen responsive element
EROD	- ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase
E-screen	- MCF-7 cell proliferation CAPE
FBS	- Fetal bovine serum
Fe ³⁺	- Iron cation
GC	- Gas chromatography
GC-MS	- Gas chromatography - mass spectrometry
GPC	- Gas permeation chromatography
GnRH	- Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
GtH I	- Gonadotropin hormone I
GtH II	- Gonadotropin hormone II

H_2SO_4	- Sulphuric acid		
HPG	- Hypothalamus-pituitary-gonad		
HPLC	- High-performance liquid chromatography		
HSP	- Heat shock protein		
HTS	- High throughput screening		
HPT	- Hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid		
kDa	- kilodalton		
L	- Litre		
LC	- Liquid chromatography		
LC-MS	- Liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry		
LDH	- lactate dehydrogenase		
LH	- Luteinizing hormone		
LPS	- Lipopolysaccharides		
Μ	- Molar UNIVERSITY of the		
MES	- Mestranol WESTERN CAPE		
MetOH	- Methanol		
Mg^{2+}	- Magnesium cation		
MS	- Mass spectrometry		
MS/MS	- tandem mass spectrometry		
mg	- milligrams		
ml	- millilitre		
Mol/mg/min	- concentration per milligram per minute		
mU	- milli units		

MTs	- Metallothioneins
mRNA	- messenger ribonucleic acid
ng/L	- nanograms per litre
NCI	- negative chemical isolation
nm	- nanometres
NPs	- Nonylphenols
NPEs	- Nonylphenol ethoxylates
OD	- Optical density
OPs	- Octylphenols
PAHs	- polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PBS	- Phosphate buffered saline
PCBs	- Polychlorinated biphenyls
РНН	- Phenylhydrazine hydrochloride
PCBs	- Polychlorinated biphenylsERSITY of the
pg/ml	- picograms per millilitre TERN CAPE
POP	- Persistent organic pollutant
R^2	- correlation coefficient
rpm	- revolutions per minute
RPMI-1640	- Roswell Park Memorial Institute-1640
RT-PCR	- reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
ROS	- Reactive oxygen species
SPE	- Solid Phase Extraction
TCDD	- 2, 3, 7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzo- <i>p</i> -dioxin

xiv

TCDF	- 2, 3, 7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzofuran
TMB	- Tetramethylbenzidine
USA	- United States of America
VTG	- Vitellogenin
VN	- Vitellin
v/v	- volume to volume
Zn^{2+}	- Zinc cation



LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1 Standard curves for the ELISAs to determine the estrogenic hormone (estrone, 51 estradiol, estriol and ethinylestradiol) concentrations in environmental water samples.
- Figure 2 Correlation graphs between the estradiol ELISA and the estrone, estriol and 53 ethinylestradiol ELISAs when rapidly screening environmental water samples for EDCs.
- Figure 3Bar graph of estrone levels of environmental water samples (N = 28) separated54into high estradiol(> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml;n = 13) groups.
- Figure 4Bar graph of estricit levels of environmental water samples (N = 28) separated55into high estradiol(> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml;n = 13) groups.

Figure 5Bar graph of ethinylestradiol levels of environmental water samples (N = 28)56separated into high estradiol (> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml;n = 13) groups.

- Figure 6Standard curves for the ELISAs to determine other steroid hormone57(progesterone and testosterone) concentrations in environmental water samples.
- Figure 7
 Correlation graphs between the estradiol ELISA and the testosterone and
 59

 progesterone ELISAs when rapidly screening environmental water samples for
 EDCs.

- Figure 8Bar graph of progesterone levels of environmental water samples (N = 28)60separated into high estradiol (> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml;61n = 13) groups.
- Figure 9Bar graph of testosterone levels of environmental water samples (N = 28)61separated into high estradiol (> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml;61n = 13) groups.
- Figure 10Graph showing a negative correlation ($R^2 = 0.131$) between the estradiol62ELISA and the mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis assay.
- Figure 11 Bar graph of testosterone levels secreted by the mouse testicular cells exposed 64 to low estradiol water samples (≤ 5 pg/ml; n = 13) and those exposed to high estradiol water samples (> 5 pg/ml; n = 15).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	A few examples of key non-steroidal synthetic chemicals.	6
Table 2	The concentrations and standard deviations of steroid hormones found in	52
	28 environmental water samples investigated using rapid ELISAs.	



WESTERN CAPE

CHAPTER 1

Literature review

An introduction to Endocrine Disrupting Compounds (EDCs)

1.1 Endocrine Disrupting Compounds (EDCs)

The U.S Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) defines EDCs as xenobiotics (agents foreign to an organism) that interfere with the synthesis, secretion, transport, binding, action or elimination of natural hormones in the body that are responsible for homeostasis, reproduction, development and/or behaviour (Crisp *et al.*, 1998).

Studies have linked EDCs to adverse biological effects in animals, giving rise to concerns that low-level exposure might cause similar effects in humans (Colborn *et al.*, 1993). EDCs range in class from hormones, plant constituents, pesticides, compounds used in the plastics industry and in consumer products to industrial by-products and pollutants (WHO, 2002). Some EDCs are widely dispersed in the environment. Some are persistent organic pollutants (POPs), and can be transported long distances across national boundaries. POPs have been found in virtually all regions of the world. Others are rapidly degraded in the environment or human body or may be present for only short periods of time (Damstra *et al.*, 2002). Health effects attributed to EDCs include a range of reproductive problems (male and female reproductive tract abnormalities, skewed male/female sex ratios, menstrual problems (Harrison *et al.*, 1995)), decreased reproductive ability in men (Sharpe and Skakkebaek, 1993), premature puberty in females

(Herman-Giddens *et al.*, 1997), increased rates of foetal death (Bell *et al.*, 2001), changes in hormone levels, brain and behaviour problems/intellectual impairment (Jacobson and Jacobson, 1996), impaired immune functions and various cancers (McKinlay *et al.*, 2008; Barry, 2009).

1.2 Properties of EDCs

The effects of EDCs on physiological systems are dependent on their individual properties and these differ with chemical type (IEH, 1999). However, certain properties are common to many of the compounds. In general, the compounds are:

- Persistent. i.e. they are slow to degrade in the environment and are therefore present in the environment for long enough to enter the food chain. Examples of highly persistent compounds are the insecticide dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), which hasn't been manufactured or used in the developed world for more than 25 years but which remains in the environment in biologically significant concentrations (Pesticide News, 1998).
- Hydrophobic and lipophilic. Compounds with hydrophobic properties tend to come out of aqueous solution and become concentrated in organic matter, soil or silt. Lipophilic compounds associate with fat depots and are readily accumulated in the fat depots of animals (Nimrod and Benson, 1996).
- Biologically active at very low concentrations. It should be noted that these compounds act on physiological systems at concentrations which are well below toxic concentrations and are generally less than 10⁻⁹ M (Rhind, 2009).
- Weakly associated with steroid binding proteins in the blood of animals. Thus, although they may be present in animals in relatively low concentrations, most or all of the

compounds present may be biologically available, unlike endogenous steroids which are mostly attached to binding proteins and are not biologically available (Colborn *et al.*, 1993).

• Able to act additively, antagonistically or synergistically and effects may be speciesdependent. Furthermore, responses observed *in vitro* are not always apparent when studied *in vivo*. These properties make it difficult to predict the likely effect of EDCs on animal physiology (Rhind, 2005).

1.3 Mechanisms of action of EDCs

The endocrine system is a complex system involving several central nervous system (CNS)pituitary-target organ feedback pathways which are involved in regulating a multitude of functions and maintaining homeostasis (i.e. self-regulated feedback mechanisms within the body) (US EPA, 1997b). Given this, there are several target organ sites within the endocrine system whereby environmental chemicals could potentially interact and disrupt normal function (US EPA, 1997b). Due to the complexity of the cellular processes involved in hormone function, any of these systems may be involved in a chemical's influence on the endocrine system (Henley and Korach, 2006). Understanding of the specific mechanism of action of EDCs is also made difficult because of factors such as the type, duration and timing of exposure, cell/tissue type on which the EDC acts and the nutritional status, age and gender of the individual (Williams, 2007). Consequently, the mechanisms of action of EDCs can be divided into two main categories namely receptor mediated and other mechanisms.

- Receptor mediated mechanisms are based on hormones eliciting a response from their target tissue through direct and specific binding to its intracellular or membrane bound receptors (Tremblay *et al.*, 1998; Soverchia *et al.*, 2005).
- Other mechanisms include those which interfere with the synthesis (Almstrup *et al.*, 2002), release (Ando *et al.*, 2004), distribution and metabolism of hormones, secondary messenger systems (Gillesby and Zacharewski, 1998), translational and post-translational mechanisms (LaChapelle *et al.*, 2007) and other systems under hormonal control including cytochrome P450 expression (Buhler *et al.*, 2000; Montserrat *et al.*, 2004).

Interaction with hormone receptors can result in either activation or inhibition of gene transcription by environmental hormones in the following ways:

- Binding of a compound to a steroidal receptor converts the receptor to an active state, which promotes gene expression (receptor agonist) (Brzozowski *et al.*, 1997).
- Binding of a compound to a steroidal receptor causes the receptor to be unavailable to participate in gene expression (receptor antagonist) (Brzozowski *et al.*, 1997; Tremblay *et al.*, 1998).
- Receptor phosphorylation, where activation of receptors occurs through processes not involving receptor binding (Daniel *et al.*, 2007).

1.4 Classes and sources of EDCs

EDCs are found in low doses in so many products and all people are exposed to compounds with endocrine disrupting effects in their daily life (AwwaRF, 2008). These compounds can be divided into three major classes:

- Natural steroids: These are required for a normally functioning endocrine system. Endogenous steroidal hormones include the estrogens such as 17β-estradiol (E2), estriol (E3) and estrone (E1), androgens like testosterone and phytoestrogens such as genestein, lignans and isoflavonoids. Phytoestrogens naturally occur in foods such as soy beans and flax seeds and they produce effects similar to those of the female sex hormone estrogen, although a person would probably need to consume copious amounts of them to affect the endocrine system (Safe and Gaido, 1998).
- Synthetic steroids: These are compounds that have been designed to target the endocrine system. They include 17α-ethinylestradiol (EE2), mestranol (MES), diethylstilbestrol (DES) and anti-estrogens like tamoxifen (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998).
- Non-steroidal synthetic chemicals: This group comprises a very wide range of compounds that have been designed for use in a variety of industries. They include alkylphenol ethoxylates, organohalogens, phenols, phthalates, pesticides, heavy metals and organotins. Table 1 below gives a few examples of key non-steroidal synthetic chemicals.

Classification	Compound	Reference
Alkylphenols	Nonylphenols (NPs)	Pojana et al., 2004
	Nonylphenol ethoxylates (NPEs)	
	Octylphenols (OPs)	
Phenols	Bisphenol A (BPA)	Pojana et al., 2004
Organohalogens	Dioxins, Polychlorinated	DeRosa et al., 1998
	biphenyls (PCBs)	
Phthalates	Di-n-pentyl phthalate	Harris <i>et al.</i> , 1997
	Butyl benzyl phthalate (BBP)	
Pesticides	DDT, Atrazine, Dicofol,	DeRosa et al., 1998
d	Dieldrin, Endosulfan,	5
T. T	Vinclozolin, Triclosan	e
Heavy Metals	Arsenic, Lead, Mercury,	DeRosa <i>et al.</i> , 1998
	Cadmium	
Organotins	Tributyltin	Nishikawa, 2006

Table 1. A few examples of key non-steroidal synthetic chemicals.

1.5 Effects of EDCs on ecosystems

The earliest and the best defined ecological effects of EDCs are on aquatic fauna. In 1980, Lake Apopka was the site of an insecticide spill containing DDT and during the last 40 years, it has received extensive agricultural pesticide (dicofol) and nutrient runoff. The impact on alligators and turtles was severe. Abnormal development of the reproductive system (morphological abnormalities of the testis and ovary), reduced egg hatching and low juvenile survival rates were recorded. Examination of the endocrine systems of hatchlings and juvenile alligators revealed alterations in testosterone, plasma 17β -estradiol, dihydrotestosterone and thyroxine concentrations (Guillette et al., 2000; US EPA, 1997b). Adverse effects on fish populations such as masculinization (development of male secondary sex characteristics) of female fish, are frequently recorded downstream of contaminant sources (Howell et al., 1980). It was also observed that the progeny of viviparous fish are biased towards male offspring (Larsson and Forlin, 2002). Perhaps the most powerful directly adverse effect on aquatic wildlife was that of the exerted by tributyltin, formerly widely used as an anti-fouling agent on ships' hulls (Matthiessen ERN CA and Gibbs, 1998). This chemical tributyltin prevents the growth of marine organisms on submerged structures such as ships' hulls, buoys and oil rig supports. Unfortunately, contamination of ports by tributyltin resulted in the local extinction of some species of marine organisms and masculinization of others, a condition termed imposex. For example, female gastropod mollusks in marine environments heavily used by shipping developed a penis-like structure with an associated vas deferens resulting in infertility (Matthiessen, 2003). The opposite effect (feminization of male fish and mollusks due to estrogenic contamination) has been reported in fresh waters downstream of sewage treatment plants (Jobling and Sumpter, 1993). Feminization of reproductive ducts in male fish in which the testis forms an ovary-like

cavity, ovotestis (presence of oocytes in the testis) and the synthesis of the female egg protein vitellin (or its precursor vitellogenin) in male fish exposed to wastewater from sewage treatment plants have been recorded (Rodgers-Gray *et al.*, 2001).

1.6 Effects of EDCs on humans

1.6.1 Pharmaceuticals

The case of the drug DES, a non-steroidal estrogen is one example of the consequences of exposing developing animals including humans, to hormonally active substances. In the past, large doses of DES were administered to women for pharmacological reasons such as prevention of miscarriage, the inhibition of lactation or stunting of growth in tall girls. This was later associated with several adverse effects (Swan, 2000; Milhan, 1992). It was discovered that DES exposure resulted in reproductive abnormalities in both male and female infants, and also vaginal cancer in females in later life (Herbst, 1981; Sharpe and Skakkebaek, 1993).

Experiments with animals have identified critical developmental time points *in utero* and days after birth when exposure to chemicals that interfere with or mimic hormones have adverse effects that persist into adulthood (Bigsby *et al.*, 1999; Eriksson *et al.*, 1991; Recabarren *et al.*, 2008; Szabo *et al.*, 2009).

1.6.2 Reproductive Hormones

The pharmacological effectiveness of estrogens and progestins has been studied for almost one hundred years, and these chemicals have been employed to both assist and block fertility (Glick, 1967). Estrogens and progestogens are naturally secreted in women as integral components of the menstrual cycle. Secreted residues of these are hydroxylated and conjugated to glucuronides before they are excreted in urine. These conjugated steroids are converted to active steroids by microbial action during sewage treatment (Panter *et al.*, 1999). The major recent pharmacological addition to the natural steroid hormone excretion in women has been the oral contraceptives, particularly the synthetic estrogen ethinylestradiol (EE2), which is similarly excreted in the urine (Falconer, 2006).

1.7 Biomarkers for EDCs

1.7.1 Vitellogenin (VTG) as a biomarker of exposure to EDCs

One of the most documented effects of xenoestrogens is the induction of vitellogenin (VTG) in oviparous (egg laying) animals. VTG is the precursor of the egg yolk protein, vitellin (VN), which provides energy reserves for the embryo. Vitellogenin is a large, glycolipophosphoprotein having calcium and zinc ligands (Wallace, 1985; Montorzi *et al.*, 1994; Denslow *et al.*, 1999). VTG is considered to have similar characteristics in vertebrates, such as fish and frogs, and invertebrates, particularly molluscs (Blaise *et al.*, 1999). In addition to being a nutrient reserve and the major source of amino acids and lipids for the developing embryo, VTG also transports the bound cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Zn²⁺ and Fe³⁺) to the oocyte for use during future embryogenesis. It also binds steroid and thyroid hormones (Cyr and Eales, 1996; Scott *et al.*, 1995; Tagawa *et al.*, 2000) and may transport these into the egg to control embryo development.

Changes in environmental stimuli such as photoperiod, temperature or food availability activate the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonad (HPG) axis. The activated hypothalamus secretes gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH), which in turn stimulates the pituitary to synthesise and release two types of gonadotropin hormones; GtH I (similar to follicle stimulating hormone) and GtH II (similar to luteinizing hormone) (Kouril, 2009). In females, GtH I stimulates the follicular cells of the ovary to produce testosterone, which is then converted to 17β -estradiol (E2) by the enzyme aromatase (Redding and Patino, 1993). A rise in circulating endogenous estrogen (E2) stimulates VTG production in the liver of sexually mature female oviparous vertebrates. Within liver cells, E2 binds to the nuclear estrogen receptor (ER), which dimerises and binds to the estrogen responsive element (ERE) of the promoter region of E2-inducible genes, including VTG and the ER itself. The binding of the ER to the ERE thus results in increased mRNA transcription and consequent production of E2-inducible proteins (Ding, 2005).

WESTERN CAPE

In female oviparous animals, hepatically produced VTG is released into the bloodstream and transported to the ovary. It is then taken up through receptor-mediated endocytosis and stored in developing oocytes (Denslow *et al.*, 1999). Here, it is sequestered by the developing oocytes and processed to form egg yolk. The incorporation of large amounts of VTG into the oocytes results in the characteristic increase in the size of the ovaries during sexual maturation. The VTG gene is also present in the livers of males but it is normally silent. Upon exposure to estrogen or to an estrogen mimic, the gene is turned on and VTG is synthesized and secreted (Jackson *et al.*, 1977; Flouriot *et al.*, 1995; Palmer and Palmer, 1995). It is then exported into the blood where, in males, it remains until it is degraded by plasma proteases or cleared out by the kidneys. VTG

proteins are degraded slowly and thus their levels can accumulate and remain high in the plasma for some time after exposure (Denslow *et al.*, 1999). The presence of measurable amounts of VTG in the plasma of male or immature female fish, where it is not normally found, indicates exposure to chemicals that mimic the receptor binding properties of the female reproductive hormone 17β -estradiol (E2). This is considered a useful biomarker of exposure to estrogenic compounds in aquatic environments (Heppel *et al.*, 1995; Hansen *et al.*, 1998; Blaise *et al.*, 1999). Low doses of estrogen can result in large increases in plasma VTG, making the determination of VTG in male fish an extremely sensitive marker for estrogen exposure (Sumpter and Jobling, 1995).

The degree to which an estrogenic compound is able to induce VTG is governed by its ability to bind to the hepatic estrogen receptor (ER). Many compounds for example alkylphenols, halogenated organic compounds, certain pesticides, some phthalate plasticizers, paraben preservatives and phytosterols are weakly estrogenic, whereas a few pharmaceutical compounds such as EE2 and DES may be more potent that E2 itself. Some organochlorine compounds including DDT, methoxychlor and certain polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) congeners are themselves very weak ER agonists, but their hydrolysed metabolites are much stronger ER agonists (Bulger *et al.*, 1978; Korach *et al.*, 1988; Soontornchat *et al.*, 1994).

ER agonists have the same mechanism of action as E2, and thus exposure to mixtures of exogenous estrogen mimics results in increased VTG response. The effects of exposure to multiple estrogenic compounds are sometimes additive, based upon the relative concentrations and potencies of the individual components of the mixture (Payne *et al.*, 2000; Thorpe *et al.*, 2003; Brian *et al.*, 2005). Consequently, even when the individual compounds are each below the threshold concentration that causes VTG induction, the overall potency of the mixture may be

sufficient to induce VTG (Silva *et al.*, 2002). Some compounds block the binding of E2 to the ER and are thus anti-estrogenic. Others for example some planar organic compounds and certain metals have indirect anti-estrogenic effects. Many polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and other planar organic compounds that interact with the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) to cause induction of the cytochrome P450 1A (CYP1A) detoxification enzyme system, are also believed to be indirectly anti-estrogenic (Arukwe and Goksøyr, 2003). Female exposure to these compounds can lead to increased E2 metabolism and reduced plasma E2 titres, thus inhibiting VTG production, impairing oocyte development and reducing reproductive output (reviewed in Nicolas, 1999). The inhibition of estrogenic effects by AhR agonists may also be due to a reduction in ER expression (Bermanian *et al.*, 2004).

1.7.2 Steroidogenesis Using Minced Testes Assay

Normal functioning of the reproductive system is essential for sexual development, behaviour and spermatogenesis. Under normal conditions, testosterone, the main sex hormone in males, is produced in the testes by the leydig cells through steroidogenesis upon stimulation by luteinizing hormone (LH) from the pituitary gland (Gail and Hedger, 1992; Kumar *et al.*, 2008). The complete steroidogenic pathway from signal transduction to end-hormone production is present in the testes. Modulation of this biochemical pathway can result in an inhibition or stimulation of steroid hormone synthesis, resulting in a hormonal imbalance which can cause adverse effects on the reproductive system (US EPA, 2005).

The minced testes assay can be used to identify substances that alter testosterone production due to direct effect on the enzymes or the endogenous components of the steroidogenic pathway

found in the testes. Anti-androgens and anti-estrogens act via a number of direct mechanisms in addition to those which directly involve the steroid hormone receptors. One prominent mechanism of anti-hormonal activity is inhibition of hormone synthesis by inhibiting the activity of P450 enzymes in the steroid pathway. Such activity could be detected in a fairly simple *in vitro* procedure with minced testicular tissue obtained from adult male rats. Leydig cell cultures could be used in place of the minced testes culture (US EPA, 1997a).

The minced testes assay is able to identify substances that either increase or decrease testosterone production. Thus, it can identify inhibitors or stimulants of the steroidogenic pathway (US EPA, 2005).



1.7.3 Breeding (nuptial) gland morphology

Adult males of many frog species exhibit patches of skin, nuptial pads, on the ventral side and digits of the forelegs. These nuptial patches may contain keratin hooks, which give the patch a darker appearance and simple saccular glands called breeding (nuptial) glands. Breeding (nuptial) glands are mostly recognized as a male secondary sex characteristic, restricted to the nuptial pads and digit pads in *Xenopus laevis* (african clawed frog) (Fujikura *et al.*, 1988).

The exact function of the secretions of these male breeding glands is still lacking, although several lines of evidence suggest that nuptial glands may be associated with sexual behaviour, specifically mating behaviour (Kurabuchi, 1993; Epstein and Blackburn, 1997; Emerson, *et al.*, 1999). The function of these breeding (nuptial) glands is also not well studied. It is however speculated, that they are used by males to clasp/grasp females during amplexus/mating

(Duellman and Trueb, 1986; Thomas *et al.*, 1993). Like the breeding glands, speculations are that these hooks assist with clasping during mating (Duellman and Trueb, 1986).

Several androgen replacement studies have shown that nuptial glands in amphibians are triggered by androgen hormones (Rastogi and Chieffi, 1971; Wetzel and Kelley, 1983; Thomas *et al.*, 1993; Lynch and Blackburn, 1995; Epstein and Blackburn, 1997; Emerson *et al.*, 1999). The sensitivity to and dependence on androgens makes nuptial glands potential biomarkers for environmental anti-androgens.

Several studies have indicated that gland epithelium heights and the gland cross-sectional area are sensitive biomarkers for androgenic receptor binding activity in frogs, including *X. laevis* (Thomas *et al.*, 1993; Lynch and Blackburn, 1995; Kelley and Pfaff, 1976; Epstein and Blackburn, 1997; Emerson *et al.*, 1999). It was reported that when female frogs were treated with androgens, breeding glands appeared (Kelley and Pfaff, 1976; Emerson, *et al.*, 1999). Several studies have indicated that estrogen inhibits breeding gland expression in both adult males and females (Emerson *et al.*, 1999).

Van Wyk *et al.*, (2003) investigated the potential of nuptial gland activity to be employed as a biomarker system for screening for anti-androgenic activity by certain EDCs. In their study, nuptial glands were not observed in female frogs. Their results indicated that flutamide, a pharmaceutic anti-androgen significantly affected the androgen-dependent breeding (nuptial) glands and plasma testosterone concentrations in male *X. laevis*. This study confirmed the potential of nuptial gland activity as a biomarker to screen chemicals and environmental samples for estrogenic and anti-androgenic activity using *X. laevis* males.

1.7.4 Dimorphism indicators: anal fin (gonopodium) in mosquitofish

The eastern mosquitofish (Gambusia holbrooki) is a sexually dimorphic species that is considered a sentinel species for the presence of EDCs (Batty and Lim, 1999; Angus et al., 2002; Doyle *et al.*, 2003). Male mosquitofish are much smaller than female mosquitofish and possess a highly elongated and modified anal fin (the gonopodium) used as an intromittent organ during copulation. The development of the gonopodium occurs under androgenic stimulation from the testis in the final stages of sexual maturation (Turner, 1941). Gonopodium development can be inhibited by castration (Turner, 1947) and to a lesser extent by exposure to estrogenic chemicals (Doyle and Lim, 2002). However, the anal fins of female mosquitofish are also capable of responding to androgens and can be induced to develop into gonopodium-like structures by the administration of hormones (Turner, 1941; Turner, 1942a; Turner, 1942b). Laboratory exposure of juvenile female mosquitofish to androgenic stimulation results in gonopodium-like elongation of the anal fin typical of juvenile male mosquitofish (Angus et al., 2001). Several studies done downstream of pulp and paper mills, (Bortone and Davis, 1994; Bortone and Cody, 1999 and Parks et al., 2001) showed that there was an increase in the number of masculinized females, indicating that chemicals with androgenic activity are present in the mill effluents. The presence of modified anal fins in female mosquitofish is visible evidence of exposure to an androgenic substance.

Gonopodium elongation in mosquitofish has been used as an endpoint for endocrine impacts in mosquitofish exposed to sewage water in Australia (Batty and Lim, 1999). In that study, wild male *G. holbrooki* sampled in an industrial area downstream from a sewage and wastewater treatment plant in New South Wales had significantly shorter gonopodia than mosquitofish sampled at a reference site, suggesting the presence of estrogenic chemicals (Batty and Lim,

15

1999). This hormone-dependent morphological trait can thus be used as a biomarker for EDCs in fresh water systems.

1.7.5 Cytochrome P450 (CYP)

Cytochrome P450 is a diverse group of enzymes belonging to a super family of proteins. The cytochrome P450 heme-containing proteins are so named because of their cellular (cyto) location and spectrophotometric characteristics (chrome). When the reduced heme iron forms an adduct with carbon monoxide (CO), P450 enzymes absorb light at wavelengths near 450 nm, identifiable as a characteristic Soret peak (Mondal *et al.*, 2011). The function of this large and diverse group of enzymes is to oxidize, hydrolyze or reduce compounds through the insertion of an atom of atmospheric oxygen into an organic substrate while the other oxygen atom is reduced to water during the reaction cycle (Nebert *et al.*, 1993; Nelson *et al.*, 1996).

CYP enzymes have been identified in all kingdoms of life namely animals, plants, fungi, bacteria and archaea (Sigel *et al.*, 2007). CYP enzymes are present in most tissues of the body, embedded within the smooth endoplasmic reticulum, where they synthesize cholesterol, metabolize/break down endogenous compounds such as steroidal hormones (estrogen and testosterone), fatty acids, cytokines, prostaglandins, vitamin D as well as exogenous compounds or potentially toxic substances like drugs (Oberdöster *et al.*, 1998). CYPs are not only involved in the metabolism of the products of endogenous metabolism, for example bilirubin in the liver, but also drug metabolism and bioactivation, thus accounting for 75% of the total metabolism. By metabolizing different compounds, CYPs generally increase the water solubility of substrates, thereby enhancing their elimination (Andersson and Förlin, 1992). In this way, cytochromes P450 such as CYP1A tend to detoxify xenobiotic chemicals.

CYP 1A is highly induced (increases in concentration) in the livers of aquatic organisms by very low levels of toxic compounds. This makes it a very good biomarker for exposure to xenoestrogens like PAHs, PCBs, 2, 3, 7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD), 2, 3, 7, 8tetrachlorodibenzofuran (TCDF) and DDT (Stegeman, 1993; Rattner *et al.*, 1993; Bucheli and Fent, 1995). In the liver, the prominent expression and induction of CYP1A is consistent with the role of this organ in xenobiotic metabolism and excretion (Van Veld *et al.*, 1997; Anulacion *et al.*, 1998; Goksøyr and Husøy, 1998; Reinecke and Segner, 1998). Increased CYP1A expression may in a qualitative way, point to potential endocrine disruption activity that warrants further investigation.

CYP1A induction is mediated through the binding of xenobioties to a cytosolic aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR). AhR ligands generally have isoteric configurations and are similar in structure to TCDD, a model CYP1A inducer. Receptor binding is followed by a series of molecular events leading to the expression of several genes (including CYP1A) known as the "Ah-gene battery" (Nebert *et al.*, 1993). The toxic effects of phenylhydrazine hydrochloride (PHH) and structurally similar compounds are thought to be mediated through the AhR, with induced proteins causing alterations in cellular homeostasis (DeVito and Birnbaum, 1994). In mammals, these effects include wasting syndrome, tumor promotion and thymic atrophy (Poland and Knutson, 1982). In fish, early life stages appear to be particularly sensitive to AhR ligands (Mehrle *et al.*, 1988; Walker and Peterson, 1991), and recent evidence indicates the involvement of CYP1A enzymes specifically in this toxic response (Cantrell *et al.*, 1996). The use of CYP1A induction as an assessment technique has increased in recent years, due mainly to the optimization of protocols

17

for the rapid and relatively inexpensive measurement of its associated enzymatic catalytic activity, the ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase (EROD) activity (Kennedy and Jones, 1994; Burke and Mayer, 1974; Pohl and Fouts, 1980).

EROD induction as a biomarker in teleost species has several advantages. By indicating the induction of CYP1A, EROD activity provides a fingerprint of the presence of AhR-active compounds. Induction of EROD is an extremely sensitive indicator of environmental alterations and is usually one of the first detectable, quantifiable responses to exposure (Stegeman, 1992). EROD activity describes the rate of the CYP1A mediated deethylation of the substrate 7- ethoxyresorufin (7-ER) to form the product resorufin. The catalytic activity towards this substrate is an indication of the amount of enzyme present and is measured as the concentration of resorufin produced per mg protein per minute (Mol/mg/min) (Kennedy and Jones, 1994). Because metabolism is generally highest in hepatic tissue, the assay is typically conducted using fish liver (Whyte *et al.*, 2000).

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

1.7.6 Metallothioneins (MTs)

Metallothioneins (MTs) are cysteine-rich, low molecular weight (500 to 14,000 Da) metalbinding proteins. Their function is not clear. MTs have the capacity to bind both physiological metals such as zinc, copper and selenium as well as xenobiotic toxic heavy metals such as cadmium, mercury, silver and arsenic (Sigel *et al.*, 2009). Experimental data suggests that MTs may be involved in the regulation of homeostasis/cellular metabolism of these essential physiological metals, detoxification of heavy metals, cellular adaptation to stress and protection of cells against reactive oxygen species (ROS) and alkylating agents (Nordberg, 1998; Smirnov

18
et al., 2005). MTs likely participate in the uptake, transport and regulation of zinc in biological systems. By binding and releasing zinc, MTs may regulate zinc levels within the body. MTs are present in almost all forms of life ranging from prokaryotes, protozoa, invertebrates and vertebrates. Four main isoforms are expressed in humans and large quantities of MTs are synthesised primarily in the liver and kidneys (Thirumoorthy *et al.*, 2011). MT expression also occurs in the pancreas and intestine. Their production is dependent on availability of the dietary minerals zinc, copper and selenium and the amino acids histidine and cysteine.

Metallothionein gene expression can be induced by a large number of glucocorticoids, metal ion exposure (zinc, copper, cadmium, mercury), chatecholamines, ROS, lipopolysaccharides (LPS), physiological and physical stress (Penkowa, 2006; Klaassen *et al.*, 1999). Elevated MT levels have frequently been associated with metal exposure and therefore MT induction is considered a response of an organism to physical or chemical stress. As such, it has been used as one of the biomarkers of exposure to heavy metal pollution (Amiard *et al.*, 2006; Costa *et al.*, 2007; Monserrat *et al.*, 2007).

According to Rainbow (1988), the induction of metallothioneins is a common defence strategy in all organisms to protect against heavy metal exposure (Kägi, 1991; Webb, 1979). The binding by MTs, of nonessential metals, such as cadmium and mercury, most likely represents a sequestration function that aims to suppress their toxicity (Roesijadi, 1992).

MTs control oxidative stress by the cysteine residues capturing harmful oxidant radicals like the superoxide and hydroxyl radicals (Kumari *et al.*, 1998). In this reaction, cysteine is oxidized to cystine, and the metal ions which were bound to cysteine are liberated to the media.

1.7.7 Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs)

Living organisms respond at the cellular level to unfavourable conditions such as temperatureshock and chemicals/toxins (ethanol, arsenic, trace metals and ultra violet light among others) by the rapid, vigorous and transient acceleration in the synthesis of a class of proteins known as heat shock proteins (HSPs) or stress proteins (Fincato *et al.*, 1991). Other stressful situations include environmental pollution, pesticides, hormones, exercise, starvation, hypoxia, drugs, infection, inflammation or ischemia. First described in experiments in which sudden increases in temperature were used, hence their name, it is now well acknowledged that HSP synthesis can also be induced by other stress factors (Schlesinger, 1990; Nover, 1991; Sanders, 1993). The upregulation of heat shock proteins is sometimes described more generally as part of the stress response (Santoro, 2000).

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are families of proteins that, when expressed, play an important role in the protection and maintenance of many vital cellular functions. They are normally localized in the cytoplasm and nucleus. In many of the model organisms studied, four major heat shock protein families were named based on the molecular mass (kDa) of the proteins. These protein families are HSP90 (85-90 kDa), HSP70 (68-73 kDa), HSP 60 and low-molecular-mass HSPs (16-24 kDa) (Forreiter and Nover, 1998). HSPs are highly conserved and found in both eukaryotes (plants and vertebrates, including humans) and prokaryotes (archaebacteria to eubacteria and yeasts) (Kelley and Schlesinger, 1982; Lindquist, 1986; Sanders, 1990; Ang *et al.*, 1991). The low-molecular-mass HSPs have diverse functions and it has been proposed that they function as molecular chaperones, preventing irreversible protein aggregation (Derham and Harding, 1999). Extracellular and membrane bound heat shock proteins, especially HSP70 are involved in binding antigens and presenting them to the immune system (Nishikawa *et al.*,

20

2008). In humans, the major HSP group is the HSP70 family, which comprises constitutively expressed and inducible proteins and is known to assist in the folding of nascent polypeptide chains (Beckmann *et al.*, 1990; Fincato *et al.*, 1991). This is done through adenosine triphosphate (ATP) - and cofactor-regulated binding and release cycles. They typically recognize hydrophobic amino acid side chains exposed by non-native proteins and may functionally cooperate with ATP-independent chaperones, such as the small HSPs, which function as 'holdases', buffering aggregation (Hartl *et al.*, 2011). Many HSPs also act as molecular chaperones by facilitating the folding of newly synthesized proteins to acquire their proper 3-dimensional conformation, organizing their transport out of the Golgi apparatus and mediating the repair (refolding/renaturing) or degradation of altered or denatured proteins in the proteasomes (Welch, 1992). This is a "housekeeping" role (Lindquist and Craig, 1988; Schlesinger, 1990; Becker and Craig, 1994; Morimoto *et al.*, 1994; Hartl, 1996; Fink, 1999). HSP90 is active in supporting various components of the cytoskeleton, enzymes and steroid hormone receptors.

Because HSPs are activated very early in the cascade of cellular events that follow toxic exposure and at concentrations below the lethal dose, they are strong candidates for biomarkers of environmental pollution. Still, little is known about the induction of HSPs under different environmental conditions. Thus, analysis of the over expression and accumulation of these heat shock proteins may be useful in determining whether a particular environmental condition is perceived by the organism to be stressful or not. The use of stress protein response as a biomarker of environmental stress in aquatic organisms such as fish is also well documented (Köhler *et al.*, 2001; Iwama *et al.*, 1998; Sanders, 1993).

1.8 *In vitro* assays for screening EDCs

Analytical tools based on techniques such as gas or liquid chromatography (GC or LC) coupled to sensitive detection systems such as mass spectrometry (MS) or tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) have been applied to detect EDCs (Petrovic *et al.*, 2005; Mottaleb *et al.*, 2009). Unfortunately, most of these techniques are not only time consuming, but are also expensive due to the extensive cleanup and sample treatment methods. Treatment of samples very often requires derivatization procedures to aid detection (Bowden *et al.*, 2009). Alternatively, immunochemical techniques offer a large number of advantages. The most relevant advantages are the selectivity and sensitivity shown by the specific antibodies for the target analyte, the use of small sample volumes, the low cost and the simplicity of the methodologies (Estévez-Alberola and Marco, 2004). Moreover, they are easily adapted to automated systems and to development of high throughput screening (HTS) methods.

Several *in vitro* bioassays (Zacharewski, 1997) are being used as rapid primary screens to detect xenobiotic estrogenic activity (Odum *et al.*, 1998) in order to determine whether such chemicals are hazardous to human health. The *in vitro* bioassays available to assess estrogenic or androgenic activity of single compounds or complex mixtures range from simple competitive receptor binding assays, which rely entirely on the substance's ability to bind to the estrogen receptor (Jobling *et al.*, 1995; Shelby *et al.*, 1996), to more complex systems where the substance binds to and activates the receptor. Assay systems include direct immunoassay detection of single active compounds, reporter gene assays and cell proliferation assays such as the E-screen assay which involves the proliferation of the human breast cancer cell line (MCF-7) (Soto *et al.*, 1995; Soto *et al.*, 1994), vitellogenin gene expression in hepatocyte cultures (Jobling and

Sumpter, 1993) and yeast-based assays expressing either rainbow trout (Petit *et al.*, 1997) or human estrogen receptors (Routledge and Sumpter, 1996).

1.8.1 Immunoassays for specific EDCs

Immunoassay techniques, particularly colorimetric enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs), are currently very popular for the determination of trace amounts of environmental contaminants such as industrial pollutants like PCBs (Johnson and Van Emon, 1996), pesticides (Lee *et al.*, 1995; McAdam *et al.*, 1992; Wittmann *et al.*, 1996), herbicides (Wong and Ahmed, 1992), petroleum (Friedman and Allen, 1994) and heavy metals (Chakrabarti *et al.*, 1994). This is because of their robustness, high sensitivity, ease of use, smaller required sample volume and relative cost.

Compared to traditional analytical methods for environmental testing such as gas chromatography - mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry (LC-MS), the ELISA technique is more cost effective and rapid, thus reducing the analysis time. The analysis time for an ELISA is typically one day and requires minimal cleanup, as compared to GC-MS, which is typically 2 to 3 weeks and requires extensive cleanup. ELISA kits are available commercially and are designed to be user friendly with easy to follow step-by-step instructions (Reddy *et al.*, 2005; Huang and Sedlak, 2001).

ELISAs are very specific and only measure the compound they are designed to detect. They employ antibodies as analytical reagents. The ELISA is based on the interaction of antigens and antibodies. Polyclonal or monoclonal antibodies (that have been raised against a particular analyte of interest) are used to detect the target analyte in a sample by specific antigen/antibody

interactions. The principle of immunoassay analytical detection is competition between an enzyme-labelled conjugate of the analyte and the particular analyte in the sample to bind with a limited number of antibody binding sites that coat the inside of a well (Plaza *et al.*, 2000). A colour change denotes reaction between the enzyme-labelled conjugate and a substrate and this colour change is indicative of the concentration of the analyte concentration in the sample. The colour change can then be recorded using a microtiter plate spectrophotometer. The extent of colour development is inversely proportional to the amount/concentration of chemical in the sample or standard. The higher the concentration of a specific steroid or other EDC chemical in the sample, the less colour reaction produced.



1.8.2 E-Screen assay

Both natural and synthetic environmental estrogens (ligands) are known to bind and activate the nuclear estrogen receptor (ER). Three receptor sub-types (ER α , ER β 1 and ER β 2), known to mediate the estrogen response are expressed in several body tissues (Esterhuyse, 2008; Swart and Pool, 2009; Fu *et al.*, 2008). The ligand binds to the nuclear ER, forming a complex, which also binds to a specific estrogen response element (ERE) sequence on DNA. This initiates mRNA transcription of a downstream gene and consequent production of specific E2-inducible proteins. Estrogens are important regulators of growth and differentiation of normal cells such as the mammary gland. However, altered expression of genes involved in the cell cycle could lead to the mitogenic effects resulting in breast cancer (Moggs, 2005). MCF-7 is a human breast cancer cell line that was derived from a patient with metastatic breast adenocarcinoma at the Michigan Cancer Foundation (Soule *et al.*, 1973). The MCF-7 cell line predominantly expresses ER α (also

some ER β) (Bursztyka *et al.*, 2008) and has been extensively used to screen for EDCs with estrogenic activity (E-Screen) (Soto *et al.*, 1995; Soto *et al.*, 2006). This assay measures the ability of a sample to initiate the proliferation of the MCF-7 cells upon exposure. Quantification of the MCF-7 cell proliferation can be done by counting the cells, or by measuring secondary endpoints related to MCF-7 cell proliferation (Swart and Pool, 2009; Rasmussen and Nielsen, 2002). Two such secondary endpoints are the increase in cellular lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and associated downregulation of ER α protein expression (Swart and Pool, 2009).

1.8.3 The Recombinant Yeast Screen Assay (YES)

The Endocrine Disruptor Screening and Testing Advisory Committee (EDSTAC) outlined a tiered screening/testing strategy for EDCs. Included in the Tier I testing scheme are *in vitro* transactivation assays such as yeast-based bioassays for screening xenobiotics that interact with the estrogen, androgen and thyroid hormone/receptor systems (US EPA, 1998). The advantages of using yeast cells are the cheap media components, they grow fast, are easy to handle and robust towards toxic effects of test chemicals or solvents. Therefore, yeast-based bioassays are a fast and easy tool for screening EDCs before performing more expensive, laborious and time consuming *in vivo* tests (Charles *et al.*, 2000).

Yeast cells do not normally contain endogenous steroid receptors. Mammalian steroid receptors are introduced along with a steroid responsive reporter gene into yeast cells by recombinant technology (Metzger *et al.*, 1988; Purvis *et al.*, 1991; Gaido *et al.*, 1998). The yeast cells contain expression plasmids carrying the reporter gene *lacZ*, which produces the enzyme β -galactosidase. This enzyme is used to measure the receptors' activity (Routledge and Sumpter,

1996; Beresford *et al.*, 2000). When a ligand binds the estrogen receptor, the reporter gene lacZis expressed, producing β -galactosidase, which is secreted into the medium where it metabolises a yellow, chromogenic substrate, chlorophenol red- β -D-galactopyranoside (CPRG) into a red product that can be measured by absorbance at 540 nm. As a result, genetically modified yeast are useful tools for studying mammalian steroid receptor function in isolation of confounding factors found in mammalian cells. When a steroid responsive reporter gene is introduced into the yeast along with the steroid receptor, chemical interaction with that receptor can be determined by measuring the reporter gene product. A yeast based steroid receptor assay differs from a competitive binding assay in that it not only determines the ability of a chemical to bind to a receptor, but also to cause that receptor to dimerize and bind to the appropriate steroid responsive regions of the DNA to induce reporter gene activity. Other advantages of using yeast to study steroid receptor function include the ease of manipulation, rapid attainment of stable transformants, ability to process a large number of samples quickly and relatively inexpensively (Gaido et al., 1998). A limitation of the yeast-based assay is that the permeability of the cells to some substances may generate false negative results and some strain specific effects have been reported. The yeast estrogenicity assay of Routledge and Sumpter (Routledge and Sumpter, 1996) has certain advantages over other yeast-based assays in that the colour can be monitored over a period of time.

1.8.4 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC) for EDC determination

Chromatographic methods identify the chemical of interest and quantify the concentration. Sampling and handling are important to preserve the integrity of the sample and EDCs within. Complex matrices such as sewage or sediment often require extensive extraction and clean-up procedures before the sample is fit for determination (Petrovic *et al.*, 2002; Voulvoulis and Scrimshaw, 2003). For steroid estrogens, their determination requires concentration of the aqueous sample to reach trace levels (ng/L). Large volumes of typically 1L and up to 20L are collected, depending on the sensitivity and the selectivity of the chemical technique (Belfroid *et al.*, 1999). Upon collection of the aqueous sample, preservatives such as methanol (MetOH) (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998) and formaldehyde (1% v/v) (Baronti *et al.*, 2000), may be added to halt microbial activity whilst solid samples are refrigerated or stored at -18° C (Ternes *et al.*, 2002). EDCs are mainly hydrophobic and tend to bind to sediment where it becomes concentrated (Bowman *et al.*, 2002).

Upon collection, aqueous samples are usually prepared by filtration to remove particles that may interfere with the extraction procedure. Any EDCs associated with the particles may be extracted by washing of the particles with a solvent such as MetOH. Extraction is generally carried out within 48 hours of collection and may even be carried out on site, negating the need for preservatives and ensuring that EDCs within are not adversely affected by storage conditions.

Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) is the main technique used to extract steroids from aqueous samples, while solid samples have to be freeze dried prior to ultrasonic extraction in solvent. SPE utilises either disks or more commonly, cartridges. Disks reduce sample clogging and have

a large surface area for sample contact compared to cartridges. Using dried sediment or sewage sludge samples, Soxhlet is the preferred extraction technique with duration periods of 4-24 hours (Petrovic *et al.*, 2002).

After extraction, sample clean-up utilizing mainly adsorption chromatography or SPE is necessary to remove further co-extractives (Voulvoulis and Scrimshaw, 2003). Further clean-up is not normally necessary for aqueous samples. For steroid estrogen monitoring in sediment and sludge samples, clean-up is a requirement and may be a multi-step procedure. Following extraction, steroid estrogens in sewage sludge are cleaned up by gel permeation chromatography (GPC) followed by silica gel (Ternes *et al.*, 2002). Some more intensive clean-up by HPLC fractionation is followed by elution over silica gel and (H₂SO₄) sulphuric acid treatment (De Boer *et al.*, 2000). Sulphuric acid is used for lipid removal although it may adversely affect the analyte. GPC, alumina and florisil columns are gentler ways to remove lipids. Sulphur present in sludge and sediment samples can interfere with gas chromatography (GC) determination. Removal of sulphur interferences can be achieved with the addition of copper either prior to extraction or during the clean-up stage (Eljarrat *et al.*, 2002).

The identification of the EDC of interest is dependent on an extraction procedure and an analytical technique which is selective for that compound. To allow investigation into the study of compounds and their interaction with their environment, column chromatography is able to achieve the objectives of separation, identification and quantification.

According to Richardson (2002), GC is the preferred analytical technique for the determination of persistent organic pollutants (POPs), having utilized GC with electrochemical (EC) detection and GC-MS with negative chemical isolation (NCI) or electron impact (EI) detection. A

prerequisite for analysis by GC is that the chemical of interest is volatile and thermally stable. When this is not the case, derivatization can be used to overcome this limitation (Blau and Halket, 1993). Traditionally, GC using derivatization has been used for estrogen monitoring. Disadvantages of derivatization are that it is labour intensive and can reduce analyte recovery. Apart from making chemicals amenable to GC-MS analysis, derivatization can also increase sensitivity using LC-MS.

1.8.5 Minced testes assay

With respect to the male reproductive system, several *in vitro* methods are used to screen for EDCs. These methods include whole testis used in simple incubation, perifusion, or perfusion assays. Other methods are testis cell line assays and sectioned or minced testes assays. Isolated and cultured crude or purified Leydig cells are other *in vitro* methods that can be used to screen for EDCs (US EPA, 2005). Of these *in vitro* methods, the sectioned or minced testes assay was selected as the most promising screening tool for identifying substances with steroidogenic-altering activity (US EPA, 2005). This method uses untreated animals as a source of testes. After removal of the whole testis from an anesthetized or euthanized animal, the testes are further processed into smaller sizes for use. A method to prepare the testes for measuring steroidogenesis was described in detail (Sikka *et al.*, 1985). It was also determined that this single assay would suffice as a screen for females as well, because the steroidogenic pathways of both males and females are very similar, the testes provide more organ for testing and organ isolation and preparation are technically easier to accomplish using the male organs. Other

perform, relative sensitivity and specificity, use of standard and basic laboratory equipment and skills and its ease of preparation (Gray *et al.*, 1997). The organ remains viable for several hours and the assay also maintains the cyto-architecture of the organ, minimizes animal usage, has the ability to screen many samples, is relatively easy to standardize by optimization and has well-defined and multiple endpoints (US EPA, 2005).

Ebrahim (2010) optimized an *in vitro* minced mouse testicular cell culture assay that could be employed as a valuable screening tool for endocrine disrupting compounds in food, water and other environmental samples. Testosterone synthesis was used as an endpoint after luteinizing hormone (LH) stimulation of the testicular cells. Increased testosterone synthesis indicated the effect of androgenic compounds in a sample while a decrease in testosterone synthesis was indicative of the anti-androgenic effects of a sample.

1.8.6 Frog and fish in vitro liver assays SITY of the

WESTERN CAPE

Monitoring the induction/synthesis of the estrogenic biomarker VTG in primary cultured hepatocytes and liver slices is a useful tool for screening the estrogenic potencies of chemicals and environmental samples. The genes for VTG are found in the livers of both females and males (Gronen *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, although males do not normally synthesize VTG, they possess the ability to synthesize VTG upon estrogen exposure (Green and Tata, 1976; Sumpter and Jobling, 1995). This ability of males to synthesize VTG after estrogen exposure has been exploited as a biomarker for measuring exposure of oviparous animals to environmental estrogens (Palmer and Palmer, 1995; Palmer *et al.*, 1998; Sumpter, 1995; Gronen *et al.*, 1999).

In vitro production of vitellogenin by hepatocytes of fish and amphibians has been used to study estrogenicity (Heppell *et al.*, 1995; Toomey *et al.*, 1999; Gagné *et al.*, 1999). Estrogenic compounds added to the hepatocyte culture medium activate the same receptor-mediated gene transcription mechanisms as endogenous estrogen, resulting in vitellogenin production.

A study done by Lutz and Kloas (1999) reports that in order to get a useful tool for investigating the binding of environmental samples to estrogen receptors in amphibians, a radio-receptor assay of estrogen receptors was established using cytosolic liver homogenates of *Xenopus laevis* (African clawed frog). Their results clearly indicated that liver cytosol of both male and female *X. laevis* can be used for determination of estrogen receptor binding because no sex-specific differences could be observed.

Lutz *et al.*, (1999) further described a novel semi-quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) technique for screening estrogenicity by assaying messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) induction of the estrogenic biomarker vitellogenin. This *in vitro* method combined with classical exposure experiments *in vivo* demonstrated the biological significance of estrogenic endocrine disruptors on the amphibian *X. laevis*. The effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals were demonstrated at several levels of organization including binding to liver estrogen receptor and the induction of vitellogenin-mRNA by RT-PCR in primary cultured hepatocytes. According to Lutz *et al.*, (1999), both documented methods represented a comprehensive amphibian model to study potential estrogenic activities of endocrine disruptors.

A sensitive bioassay for detecting environmental estrogens and estrogen mimics was developed by Hurter *et al.*, (2002) using *X. laevis* liver slice culture. Vitellogenin synthesis by *X. laevis*

liver slice cultures was used as a biomarker for estrogenic activity of environmental water samples. It was found that not only uncontaminated males but also estrogen-pretreated males and females can successfully be used as bioindicators. Female liver tissue slices, being equally if not more sensitive than estrogen pre-exposed male liver tissue slices, can thus be used as an alternative to traditional studies that only used male animals to study the effects of estrogen and estrogen mimics on endocrine disruption (Hurter *et al.*, 2002).

Hurter *et al.*, (2002) optimized the *X. laevis* liver slice assay that could be used to detect manmade estrogen mimics that might pollute the environment. Only liver tissue slices were investigated because they were more representative of *in vivo* conditions than isolated hepatocytes. This is due to the fact that all the cell types are present and can interact as they would *in vivo*, as they are in the right spatial orientation with one another in the liver slice system (Hurter *et al.*, 2002). Hurter *et al.*, (2002) suggested that this assay, being more representative of *in vivo* conditions than the isolated hepatocyte assay and the yeast screen assay for estrogen, be included in the battery of tests for endocrine disruptors.

WESTERN CAPE

Williams *et al.*, (1998) showed rainbow trout to be sensitive to xenoestrogens and their effects on responses such as modulation of cytochromes P450 (CYPs) and carcinogenesis. Since the use of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) liver slices to screen for estrogenic compounds offered a link between cultured cell models and *in vivo* studies, Shilling and Williams (2000) developed a rainbow trout liver slice assay to quantify the relative estrogenicity of chemicals by measuring VTG induction. Their model demonstrated the capacity to screen environmental and dietary compounds for estrogenicity. The results were consistent with those of other studies by Pelissero *et al.*, (1993) and Maitre *et al.*, (1986), which described similar *in vitro* techniques which utilized VTG induction by rainbow trout hepatocytes as a biomarker to assess the estrogenic activity of

chemicals. Jobling and Sumpter (1993) also reported the use of rainbow trout hepatocytes in an *in vitro* bioassay to detect the estrogenic potencies of detergent components (surfactants) in sewage effluent to fish. Slices are faster and easier to prepare than hepatocytes because no collagenase, isolation or culturing steps are required (Seglan, 1975). Another advantage is that unlike mammalian liver slices, rainbow trout slices can be maintained for several days, allowing for more extensive studies of induction and inhibition (Oganesian *et al.*, 1997a and b). Liver slices also allow for the preservation of the different types of cells and maintenance of cell-to-cell interactions (Guillouzo, 1998). That, and the retention of metabolic activity over a longer period of time (Vickers, 1994; Beamand *et al.*, 1993) make liver slices an ideal model to monitor

estrogenicity of samples.



WESTERN CAPE

CHAPTER 2

Problem Statement and Aim

There is a growing concern over the occurrence of endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) in the environment (Kavlock *et al.*, 1996). Prolonged exposure to environmental estrogens (a subgroup of EDCs) is believed to be responsible for a variety of adverse health effects in humans and wildlife. These effects include gonadal abnormalities, reduced fertility, cancers of the male and female reproductive tract and altered male/female sex ratios among others (Sumpter, 1995; Sumpter and Jobling, 1995). These effects are difficult to detect. Although it is essential to screen for EDCs in aqueous environmental samples, most countries have failed to implement this as part of their routine water quality monitoring programs due to various constraints such as the high cost of assays and the lack of infrastructure and skills required to do the assays. Therefore, there is a clear need for more user-friendly, more economically viable and time saving assays that can be used for routine monitoring of environmental EDCs.

To this end, the Endocrine Disruptor Screening and Testing Advisory Committee (EDSTAC) was formed to make recommendations to the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) on how to develop screening strategies to monitor EDCs in the environment. EDSTAC recommended a two-tiered approach that involves *in vitro* and *in vivo* mammalian and eco-toxicological screens as a Tier 1 system and a set of *in vivo* tests as a Tier 2 system for the identification of endocrine effects of various environmental contaminants (US EPA, 1998).

The aim of this study is to compare different rapid ELISAs for EDC monitoring to determine if data obtained with these assays are similar/identical. The study also aims to compare the estradiol rapid ELISA with a bioassay for anti-androgenicity using mouse testicular cell cultures. In so doing, this research hopes to demonstrate how well estradiol levels can be used to predict the presence of other steroid hormones in a sample and also demonstrate how effective estradiol levels are at predicting/monitoring the anti-androgenicity of a sample. The eventual goal of the above is to select representative assays that can also be used to predict other likely contaminants in a sample. Assays giving identical/similar results will be replaced with a single assay that will be used for routine monitoring. Reduction of assays will have major cost and human resource benefits. These resources can then be redirected to develop and implement assays for other groups of EDCs, such as the hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis inhibitors, for which rapid assays are not yet available. This research intends to evaluate data for various EDC screening tests and then propose a minimalist battery of screening assays to monitor for environmental estrogens, progestogens, androgens and anti-androgens in water samples.

CHAPTER 3

3.1 Introduction

The U.S Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) defines EDCs as xenobiotics (agents foreign to an organism) that interfere with the synthesis, secretion, transport, binding, action or elimination of natural hormones in the body that are responsible for homeostasis, reproduction, development and/or behaviour (Crisp *et al.*, 1998). Most EDCs are synthetic compounds produced as a result of industrial, agricultural and domestic activities (Desbrow *et al.*, 1998; Pojana *et al.*, 2004; DeRosa *et al.*, 1998, Harris *et al.*, 1997). Some EDCs are natural steroids. Examples of these are the endogenous steroid hormones such as the estrogens (estrone, 17β estradiol and estriol), androgens like testosterone and phytoestrogens such as genestein and lignans (Safe and Gaido, 1998).

There is considerable concern over the occurrence of EDCs in the environment. They have been found in natural water resources, drinking water and in an accumulated form in the food of many human and animal populations, potentially posing a great health threat upon prolonged exposure (Soto *et al.*, 1995; Palmer *et al.*, 1998). EDCs have been reported to adversely affect the reproductive, immune, endocrine, nervous and metabolic systems in wildlife and human populations (Colborn, 1995).

EDCs have been shown to interfere with the normal functioning of the endocrine system by mimicking the effects of natural hormones. EDCs can mimic the binding of hormones to their receptors (for example binding the estrogen receptor leading to feminization), block the binding

36

of natural hormones to their receptors (for example the male hormone testosterone, leading to demasculinization of males) or modulate the effect of natural hormones by interfering with important cell signalling pathways (Kelce and Gray, 1999). The best studied environmental EDCs include chemicals that induce responses mimicking the effect of natural estrogen (Gillesby and Zacharewski, 1998; Toomey *et al.*, 1999; Soto *et al.*, 1995) or act as anti-estrogenic compounds (Kime *et al.*, 1999).

The effects of EDCs are among others, altered male/female sex ratios, feminization of males, reduced fertility and gonadal abnormalities to mention a few (Sumpter, 1995; Sumpter and Jobling, 1995; Gagné *et al.*, 1999; Kime *et al.*, 1999).

Biomarkers must be developed and implemented to screen for EDCs in the environment. Analytical tools based on traditional chemical monitoring techniques such as gas chromatography - mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) have been applied to detect EDCs (Snyder *et al.*, 1999; Snyder *et al.*, 2000). These techniques are reliable, but they are very expensive, require a very high level of skill to operate and are time consuming. Beresford *et al.*, (2000) concluded that due to the need for cost effective, rapid and simple methods that could also allow for screening of large numbers of samples, *in vitro* test methods were more appropriate.

Several *in vitro* bioassays (Zacharewski, 1997) are being used as rapid primary screens to detect xenobiotic estrogenic activity (Odum *et al.*, 1998). The *in vitro* bioassays available to assess estrogenic or androgenic activity of single compounds or complex mixtures range from simple competitive receptor binding assays, which rely entirely on the substance's ability to bind to the estrogen receptor (Jobling *et al.*, 1995; Shelby *et al.*, 1996), to more complex systems where the

substance binds to and activates the receptor. Assay systems include direct immunoassay detection of single active compounds, reporter gene assays and cell proliferation assays such as the E-screen assay which involves the proliferation of the human breast cancer cell line (MCF-7) (Soto *et al.*, 1995; Soto *et al.*, 1994), vitellogenin gene expression in hepatocyte cultures (Jobling and Sumpter, 1993) and yeast-based assays expressing either rainbow trout (Petit *et al.*, 1997) or human estrogen receptors (Routledge and Sumpter, 1996).

Other *ex vivo* bioassays are based on the quantitation of hormone-induced changes in the expression of endogenous proteins and genes. Examples of methods employing estrogen-induced changes in the expression of proteins include the *Xenopus laevis* (Hurter *et al.*, 2002) and rainbow trout (Shilling and Williams, 2000) liver slice assays. These assays monitor *in vitro* induced vitellogenin (VTG) as a biomarker endpoint. Another method, the minced testes assay is based on the steroidogenic activity of rat/mouse testicular cells. This assay monitors the potential of samples to interfere with steroid hormone biosynthesis or more directly alter testosterone levels (Gray *et al.*, 1995; Laskey *et al.*, 1995).

WESTERN CAPE

A study conducted in South Africa by Swart and Pool (2007), demonstrated the presence of significant amounts of steroid hormones released back into the environment from sewage treatment plants. Steroid hormones have the potential to cause endocrine disruption, not only in animals, but in humans as well (Swart and Pool, 2007). Research done by Swart *et al.* (2011) has shown that accurate evaluation of environmental water samples for estrogenic activity requires a battery of *in vitro* and *in vivo* bioassays. For this study, the environmental water samples collected were selected based on various human impacts and comparatively analysed using various biomarker assays.

The aim of this study was to investigate the comparison between chemical and tissue culture methods to monitor environmental estrogens. Specific objectives were to compare different rapid ELISAs for EDC monitoring and to compare the estradiol rapid ELISA with a bioassay for antiandrogenicity using mouse testicular cell cultures.



3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Reagents and chemicals

All chemicals, reagents and solvents were purchased from Sigma (USA), Merck (Germany) and Roche Diagnostics (South Africa). All reagents were of analytical grade.

3.2.2 Animals

After obtaining approval from the institutional animal ethics committee, male Balb/C mice were used for this study. Two month old, pathogen free mice were purchased from the University of Cape Town Animal Unit (Cape Town, South Africa). The mice were then housed in a well-ventilated animal house with a light/dark cycle of 12:12. The mice had free access to normal drinking water and were fed standard mouse feed (Medical Research Council, Cape Town, South Africa).

3.2.3 Water Sampling

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE

Water samples were collected in clean 250 ml glass bottles. The bottles were cleaned by washing with soap, followed by rinsing with tap water. The bottles were then rinsed with distilled water, followed by analytical grade ethanol (Merck, Germany) and finally rinsed again with distilled water. The bottles were then allowed to dry upside down on a dry rack. Environmental water samples were collected from various sites around South Africa. Samples collected for the current study were selected based on various human impacts and also to give approximately 50% high and 50% low estrogen values. Samples were numerically labeled and given to the assay operator for an independent comparative analysis of various biomarker assays. The samples were taken to the laboratory and processed immediately. Normal laboratory tap water was used as a control.

40

3.2.4 Detection of steroid hormones in water

3.2.4.1 Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) of water samples

To prevent clogging the columns during extraction, particle-containing samples were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 15 minutes. Water samples were then extracted using C-18 SPE columns (Sigma Aldrich, USA). Columns were conditioned by adding 2 ml of Phase B solution (45% methanol, 40% hexane and 15% 2-propanol), then charged by adding 2 ml ethanol and then washed with 4 ml distilled water. Care was taken to ensure that the sorbents do not dry between the different steps. After the wash step, 100 ml of water sample was passed through the column. The columns were then dried using a vacuum pump (PALL Life Sciences vacuum/pressure pump) until the column was completely dry. The hydrophobic analytes bound to the resin were eluted with 2 ml of Phase B solution. The eluates were dried under a stream of hot air. The dried sample was reconstituted in 100 µl dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to make a 1000 times concentrated sample extract solution. The samples were stored at 4^oC until further use. Extracts were diluted appropriately for the different ELISAS.

3.2.4.2 Estrone (E1) ELISA analysis of water extracts

Concentrated (1000 times) water extracts were diluted 1/500 using wash solution. The diluted (2 times concentrated) extracts were assayed directly using E1 ELISA kits purchased from DRG Instruments GmbH, Germany. All the reagents required were supplied in the kit. The microtiter plate wells supplied with the kit were pre-coated with a polyclonal antibody directed towards an antigenic site on the E1 molecule. All assays were done in duplicate. Standard, control or samples (50 μ l per well) were dispensed into appropriate wells on the anti-estrone coated plate. Thereafter, 100 μ l of enzyme conjugate (estrone horseradish peroxidase) was added to each well.

The contents of the wells were mixed by tapping the plate. The mixture was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature on a plate shaker (Barloworld Scientific, Stuart Microtiter Plate Shaker, SSM5). After incubation, the wells were washed five times with 400 μ l per well of wash solution and then tapped dry on adsorbent paper to remove residual droplets. Thereafter, 150 μ l of tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added to each well and incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ l of stop solution (0.5 M H₂SO₄) to all wells. The absorbance/optical density (OD) of each well was then measured at 450 nm using a microtiter plate reader (Thermo Electron Corporation, Original Multiskan Ex). A standard curve was drawn using the OD readings obtained for the standards and the concentrations of the samples were read off this curve.

3.2.4.3 Estradiol (E2) analysis of water extracts

Concentrated (1000 times) water extracts were diluted 1/500 using wash solution. The diluted (2 times concentrated) extracts were assayed directly using E2 ELISA kits purchased from DRG Instruments GmbH, Germany. All the reagents required were supplied in the kit. The microtiter plate wells supplied with the kit were pre-coated with a polyclonal rabbit antibody directed towards an antigenic site on the E2 molecule. Assays were done in duplicate. Standard, control or samples (25 μ l per well) were dispensed into appropriate wells on the anti-estradiol coated plate. Thereafter, 200 μ l of enzyme conjugate (estradiol horseradish peroxidase) was added to each well. The contents of the wells were mixed by tapping the plate. The mixture was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature on a plate shaker (Barloworld Scientific, Stuart Microtiter Plate Shaker, SSM5). After incubation, the wells were washed four times with 400 μ l per well of wash solution and then tapped dry on adsorbent paper to remove residual droplets. Thereafter, 100 μ l

of tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added to each well and incubated in the dark for 15 minutes at room temperature. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ l of stop solution (0.5 M H₂SO₄) to all wells. The absorbance/optical density (OD) of each well was then measured at 450 nm using a microtiter plate reader (Thermo Electron Corporation, Original Multiskan Ex). A standard curve was drawn using the OD readings obtained for the standards and the concentrations of the samples were read off this curve.

3.2.4.4 Testosterone ELISA analysis of water extracts

Concentrated (1000 times) water extracts were diluted 1/100 using wash solution. The diluted (10 times concentrated) extracts were assayed directly using testosterone ELISA kits purchased from DRG Instruments GmbH, Germany. All the reagents required were supplied in the kit. The microtiter plate wells supplied with the kit were pre-coated with a monoclonal mouse antibody directed towards a unique antigenic site on the testosterone molecule. All assays were done in duplicate. Standard, control or samples (25 µl per well) were dispensed into appropriate wells on the anti-testosterone coated plate. Thereafter, 200 µl of enzyme conjugate (testosterone horseradish peroxidase) was added to each well. The contents of the wells were mixed by tapping the plate. The mixture was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature on a plate shaker (Barloworld Scientific, Stuart Microtiter Plate Shaker, SSM5). After incubation, the wells were washed four times with 400 µl per well of wash solution and tapped dry on adsorbent paper to remove residual droplets. Thereafter, 200 µl of tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added to each well and incubated in the dark for 15 minutes at room temperature. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 μ l of stop solution (0.5 M H₂SO₄) to all wells. The absorbance/optical density (OD) of each well was then measured at 450 nm using a microtiter

plate reader (Thermo Electron Corporation, Original Multiskan Ex). A standard curve was drawn using the OD readings obtained for the standards and the concentrations of the samples were read off this curve.

3.2.4.5 Progesterone ELISA analysis of water extracts

Concentrated (1000 times) water extracts were diluted 1/100 using wash solution. The diluted (10 times concentrated) extracts were assayed directly using progesterone ELISA kits purchased from DRG Instruments GmbH, Germany. All the reagents required were supplied in the kit. The microtiter plate wells supplied with the kit were pre-coated with a polyclonal antibody directed towards an antigenic site on the progesterone molecule. All assays were done in duplicate. Standard, control or samples (25 µl per well) were dispensed into appropriate wells on the antiprogesterone coated plate and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. Thereafter, 200 µl of enzyme conjugate (progesterone horseradish peroxidase) was added to each well. The contents of the wells were mixed by tapping the plate. The mixture was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature on a plate shaker (Barloworld Scientific, Stuart Microtiter Plate Shaker, SSM5). After incubation, the wells were washed four times with 400 µl per well of wash solution and tapped dry on adsorbent paper to remove residual droplets. Thereafter, 200 μ l of tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added to each well and incubated in the dark for 15 minutes at room temperature. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 μ l of stop solution $(0.5 \text{ M H}_2\text{SO}_4)$ to all wells. The absorbance/optical density (OD) of each well was then measured at 450 nm using a microtiter plate reader (Thermo Electron Corporation, Original Multiskan Ex). A standard curve was drawn using the OD readings obtained for the standards and the concentrations of the samples were read off this curve.

3.2.4.6 Estriol (E3) ELISA analysis of water extracts

Concentrated (1000 times) water extracts were diluted 1/40 using incubation buffer. The diluted (25 times concentrated) extracts were assayed directly using E3 ELISA kits purchased from DRG Instruments GmbH, Germany. All the reagents required were supplied in the kit. The microtiter plate wells supplied with the kit were pre-coated with antibody against the E3 molecule. All assays were done in duplicate. Before use, the standards were mixed for 2 minutes on a rotating mixer/vortex (Scientific Industries, Vortex Genie-2); whereas the enzyme conjugate (estriol horseradish peroxidase) was prepared immediately before use. Conjugate (10 µl) was added to 2 ml of incubation buffer and gently mixed on the rotating mixer for 5 minutes. Standard, control or samples (20 µl per well) were dispensed into appropriate wells on the antiestriol coated plate. Thereafter, 200 µl of enzyme conjugate was added to each well. The contents of the wells were mixed by tapping the plate. The mixture was incubated for 1 hour at 37^{0} C. After incubation, the wells were washed three times with 300 µl per well of distilled water and tapped dry on adsorbent paper to remove residual droplets. Thereafter, 100 µl of tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate was added to each well and incubated in the dark for 15 minutes at 22 - 28°C. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl of stop solution (0.15 M H₂SO₄) to all wells. The absorbance/optical density (OD) of each well was then measured at 450 nm using a microtiter plate reader (Thermo Electron Corporation, Original Multiskan Ex). A standard curve was drawn using the OD readings obtained for the standards and the concentrations of the samples were read off this curve.

3.2.4.7 Ethinylestradiol (EE2) ELISA analysis of water extracts

Concentrated (1000 times) water extracts were diluted 1/100 using diluent (40% (v/v) Methanol (MetOH) in distilled water). The diluted (10 times concentrated) extracts were assayed directly using EE2 ELISA kits purchased from R-Biopharm AG, Darmstadt, Germany. All the reagents required were supplied in the kit. The microtiter plate wells supplied with the kit were pre-coated with capture antibodies directed against anti-ethinylestradiol antibodies. All assays were done in duplicate. Before use, the ethinylestradiol enzyme conjugate and anti-ethinylestradiol antibody concentrates were diluted 1:11 in dilution buffer. Standard, control or samples (20 µl per well) were dispensed into appropriate duplicate wells on the anti-ethinylestradiol coated plate. Thereafter, 50 µl of diluted enzyme conjugate was added to the bottom of each well. 50 µl of diluted antibody solution was added to each well and the contents of the wells were mixed gently by shaking the plate manually. The mixture was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature (20 - 25° C). After incubation, the wells were washed four times with 250 µl per well of distilled water and tapped dry on adsorbent paper to remove residual droplets. Thereafter, 50 µl of substrate (containing urea peroxide) and 50 µl of chromogen (containing tetramethylbenzidine) was added to each well and mixed gently by shaking the plate manually. The plate was then incubated in the dark for 30 minutes at room temperature. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 μ l of stop solution (0.5 M H₂SO₄) to each well. The absorbance/optical density (OD) of each well was then measured at 450 nm using a microtiter plate reader (Thermo Electron Corporation, Original Multiskan Ex). A standard curve was drawn using the OD readings obtained for the standards and the concentrations of the samples were read off this curve.

3.2.5 The effects of water extracts on testicular culture testosterone synthesis

3.2.5.1 Preparation of testicular cells

Mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Their testes were then removed aseptically, finely minced and then transferred to a 50 ml tube (Greiner Bio-one) containing 10 ml serum-free medium (100 µl glutamax (Invitrogen), 100 µl Penicillin/Streptomycin/Fungizone mix (Sigma) and 9.8 ml RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma)). Debris was allowed to collect at the bottom of the tube and thereafter, the supernatant (containing testicular cells) was transferred to a new tube. Serum-free medium was then added to the cells resulting in a final volume of 20 ml. The cells were then incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 1 hour. After incubation, the cells were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 15 minutes on a Boeco C-28A centrifuge (Boeckel & Co.). The supernatant was then discarded and the cell pellet was resuspended in 15 ml fresh serum-free medium and incubated at 37[°]C with 5% CO₂ for 30 minutes. The cells were centrifuged once again at 4000 rpm for 15 minutes and the supernatant obtained was again discarded. The cell pellet was then resuspended in 16 ml complete (enriched) medium containing 160 µl fetal bovine serum (FBS) (to give a concentration of 1.0×10^6 cells/ml). The complete medium also contained 160 µl Glutamax (Invitrogen), 160 µl Penicillin/Streptomycin/Fungizone mix (Sigma) and 15.52 ml RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma)). The cell suspensions were then used for testosterone production assays.

3.2.5.2 Testicular cell culture bioassays on water extracts

DMSO diluted 1/500 in RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma) was used as a control. Water extracts diluted 1/500 (2 times final concentration) in RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma) were added to the wells of a 96-well tissue culture plate (Nunc, Denmark) at a volume of 50 µl per well. Cell

suspension (50 µl per well) was then added to the water extracts in the tissue culture plate. The culture plate was then incubated overnight at 37^{0} C in 5% CO₂. Unstimulated cells then received 50 µl enriched medium, while stimulated cultures receive 50 µl enriched medium containing 10 mU per ml luteinizing hormone (LH). The cultures were then incubated for 4 hours at 37^{0} C in 5% CO₂. After the 4 hour incubation period, supernatants from LH-treated and non-treated cells were harvested and diluted 1/10 with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.1% Tween 20. The diluted sample supernatant was screened for testosterone concentration using a commercially available ELISA kit (DRG Instruments GmbH, Germany). The ELISA kit contains all the necessary reagents for the assay and the assay was performed as per manufacturer's instructions (refer to 3.2.4.4).

3.2.5.3 Statistical analysis

Each experiment was performed in triplicate. The results were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a pairwise multiple comparison procedure (Holm-Sidak method) to indicate significantly different groups (P < 0.05); using the SigmaStat 12.0 software package (Systat Software Inc., USA).

RIE

TIT

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Steroid hormone detection in water samples using specific ELISAs

The standard curves for the ELISAs to determine the estrogen (estrone, estradiol, estriol and ethinylestradiol) concentrations in environmental water samples are shown in Figure 1. The correlation coefficients (\mathbb{R}^2) for all the standard curves are between 0.939 and 0.991. This data is similar to results previously obtained by Swart and Pool (2007). The standard curves show good inverse correlations between the optical density and the estrogenic hormone concentration. The ELISAs have detection ranges between 15 - 2000 pg/ml, 9.7 - 2000 pg/ml, 2000 - 200000 pg/ml and 20 - 12800 pg/ml for the estrone, estradiol, estriol and ethinylestradiol ELISAs respectively. Estrone, estradiol, testosterone, progesterone, estriol and ethinylestradiol concentrations detected in environmental water samples are shown in Table 2. The levels of testosterone synthesized by mouse testicular cells exposed to the environmental water samples are also included in Table 2. The 28 environmental water samples were separated into two groups based on the estradiol ELISA. The estradiol ELISA was chosen because estradiol is the principal estrogen found in all mammalian species during their reproductive years (Duff and DeAvila, 2005). For this separation, an estradiol level of 5 pg/ml was used as cut-off. Valentini et al., (2002) estimated the detection limit of 17β -estradiol in waste water to be 5 pg/ml. Of the 28 samples investigated, 15 had estradiol levels higher than 5 pg/ml and were designated as high estradiol. The remaining 13 samples contained estradiol at 5 pg/ml or less and they were designated as low estradiol.

3.3.2 Comparison between data obtained using the panel of estrogen ELISAs for monitoring water samples

The estrone, estriol and ethinylestradiol ELISAs for rapid screening of environmental water samples for EDCs show positive correlations of $R^2 = 0.539$, $R^2 = 0.720$ and $R^2 = 0.871$ respectively when compared with the estradiol ELISA (Figure 2). The estrone, estriol and ethinylestradiol levels of the low and high estradiol sets of environmental water samples were then compared to see how effective the estradiol levels were at predicting high and low levels of the other hormones within the samples (Figures 3, 4 and 5). Results of this show that separation of water samples based on estradiol levels was very effective at separating samples with high and low levels of estrone (P < 0.001), estriol (P = 0.03) and ethinylestradiol (P = 0.006). The similarity of results based on the estradiol assay may be due to the fact that these assays screen for hormones and pharmaceutical residues in the environment that are secreted mainly by the same population sub-group, namely reproductively active females.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



Sample number	Estradiol (pg/ml)		Estrone (pg/ml)		Estriol (pg/ml)		Ethinylestradiol (pg/ml)		Testosterone (pg/ml)		Progesterone (pg/ml)		Testosterone from mouse culture (pg/ml)	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
1	14	0	18	1	0	0	2	0	0	0	10	3	77	15
2	41	1	34	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	7	1	83	8
3	3	0	3	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	93	11
4	34	1	13	1	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	1	84	16
5	5	0	5	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	4	1	100	10
6	22	1	10	1	0	0	3	1	0	1	5	2	96	16
7	7	0	34	1	0	0	3	0	0	0	18	1	84	12
8	11	1	29	0	0	0	4	1	0	0	22	7	92	8
9	6	0	11	1	0 🧲	0	4	1	0	0	11	1	0	2
10	3	0	3	1	0	0 11	2	0 1	0	1	3	4	43	12
11	3	0	4	1	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
12	43	2	42	4	2	0	10	0	96	9	94	6	0	1
13	93	10	47	9	3	0	19	0	334	30	119	4	0	1
14	78	8	26	0	1	0	20	0	351	15	56	4	0	1
15	2	0	4	1	0	0	2	0	0	3	6	3	84	13
16	2	0	1	0	0 🖻	0	0	0	0	16	5	1	101	4
17	2	1	2	0	0	0		0	0	3	3	3	103	5
18	71	2	40	4	2	NOV	E17	ITY	0412	55	204	25	9	21
19	4	1	5	0	0	0	2	0	0	5	6	0	95	16
20	4	0	6	0	0 M	TOST	FER	Nº C	APE	7	5	1	110	1
21	2	0	4	0	0	0	1	0	0	5	3	3	93	9
22	44	5	28	0	2	0	12	0	110	36	112	3	0	3
23	2	0	4	0	0	0	0	1	7	1	4	5	0	1
24	1	1	4	0	0	0	1	2	16	3	5	3	0	2
25	2	1	7	1	0	0	0	0	11	3	5	3	0	0
26	2	0	28	2	0	0	2	2	17	3	8	0	93	3
27	7	0	24	1	0	0	2	2	17	1	10	0	0	1
28	7	0	22	0	0	0	2	1	17	3	9	0	0	4

Table 2. The concentrations and standard deviations of steroid hormones found in 28 environmental water samples investigated using rapid

 ELISAs.

Data published by Swart and Pool (2007), showed that the results obtained using rapid ELISAs for estrogens gave similar results. The same authors also showed that the rapid ELISAs for estrogens gave similar results to the estrogen bioassays done using juvenile tilapia fish *in vivo* and MCF-7 cell culture (Swart *et al.*, 2011). The current study showed similar data for the estrogen rapid ELISAs using a larger data set than the previous studies. Based on this, we recommend that only one of the estrogen rapid ELISAs be done for routine screening.



Figure 2. Correlation graphs between the estradiol ELISA and the estrone, estriol and ethinylestradiol ELISAs when rapidly screening environmental water samples for EDCs.



Figure 3. Bar graph of estrone levels of environmental water samples (N = 28) separated into high estradiol (> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml; n = 13) groups. The estrone levels of the two groups are significantly different from each other (P < 0,001). Vertical bars represent the average estrone concentration, whereas error bars represent standard error of mean.




Figure 5. Bar graph of ethinylestradiol levels of environmental water samples (N = 28) separated into high estradiol (> 5pg/ml; n = 15) and low estradiol (\leq 5 pg/ml; n = 13) groups. The ethinylestradiol levels of the two groups are significantly different from each other (P = 0.006). Vertical bars represent the average ethinylestradiol concentration, whereas error bars represent standard error of mean.

3.3.3 Comparison between 17β-estradiol rapid assay and the rapid assays for other steroid hormones



Figure 6. Standard curves for the ELISAs to determine other steroid hormone (progesterone and testosterone) concentrations in environmental water samples.

The standard curves for the ELISAs to determine other steroid hormone (progesterone and testosterone) concentrations in environmental water samples are displayed in Figure 6. The correlation coefficients (\mathbb{R}^2) for these standard curves are 0.955 and 0.987 for testosterone and progesterone respectively. These standard curves show good inverse correlations between the optical density and the steroid hormone concentration. The testosterone and progesterone ELISAs have detection ranges between 83 - 16,000 pg/ml and 300 - 40,000 pg/ml respectively. The current study showed that detectable levels of testosterone and progesterone are present in some of the environmental samples. The rapid ELISA kits are relatively expensive and due to this, it was investigated if estradiol concentration can be used to predict which of the high or low estradiol water samples had low or high levels of testosterone and progesterone. Figure 7 shows that there are positive correlations between the estradiol levels and the testosterone ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.788$)

and progesterone ($R^2 = 0.627$) levels of the samples. The positive correlation between the estradiol and progesterone rapid assays was expected considering that both hormones are secreted and excreted by the same population sub-group (reproductively active females). The testosterone and progesterone levels of the low and high estradiol sets were then compared to see how effective the estradiol levels were at predicting high and low levels of testosterone and progesterone within the samples (Figures 8 and 9). Figure 8 shows that there is a significant difference between the progesterone levels of the group of samples with low estradiol levels and that with high levels of estradiol (P = 0.02). This indicates that separation of water samples based on estradiol levels is a good predictor of progesterone levels. This particular trend with progesterone is particularly akin to that displayed in Figures 3, 4 and 5 with the estrogens. Even though there is a positive correlation and good predictability using the estradiol ELISA, since progesterone is secreted by pregnant women, a sub-group of the reproductively active females, it is recommended to be assayed because it provides a different hormonal endpoint that can also be screened for in samples using the progesterone rapid assay. Figure 9 shows that there is no significant difference in the testosterone levels of the high and low estradiol groups (P = 0.051). This indicates that separation of samples based on estradiol levels is not a good predictor of testosterone levels. From this result, it can be concluded that a biomarker battery of tests must also include testosterone ELISA as positive and negative samples cannot be predicted by the estradiol ELISA data.







3.3.4 Comparison between 17β-estradiol rapid assay and the mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis assay



Figure 10. This graph shows a negative correlation ($R^2 = 0.131$) between the estradiol ELISA and the mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis assay.

The graph in Figure 10 displays a R^2 of 0.131 between the 17 β -estradiol rapid assay and the mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis assay. This means that the 17 β -estradiol rapid assay showed little or no relationship with the mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis assay. Infact, the correlation coefficient suggests that only 13% of the variation in one of the assays is related to the variation in the other assay (only 13% of the variance is related). The current study investigates if the ELISA data for estrogens correlates with the anti-androgenic effects. This study shows that there is no correlation between the data obtained for the estrogenic compounds and the testosterone synthesis data. To determine how effective the estradiol levels were at predicting testosterone synthesized in mouse testicular cells exposed to different water samples, the group of samples containing low levels of estradiol was compared against that containing

62

high levels of estradiol. Results of this show no significant difference (P = 0.166) between the concentration of testosterone synthesized by mouse testicular cells exposed to low estradiol water samples and the concentration of testosterone synthesized by mouse testicular cells exposed to high estradiol water samples (Figure 11). The high variation of testosterone synthesized by testicular cells exposed to the water samples with low estradiol levels could be due to the presence of other anti-androgenic chemicals such as Bisphenol A (BPA), butyl benzyl phthalate (BBP) and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT). Anti-androgenic activity of the so-called 'environmental estrogens' BPA, BBP and DDT was reported by Sohoni & Sumpter (1998). Therefore, the estradiol assay is not a good predictor of the anti-androgenic effects of water samples. The anti-androgenic effects need to be monitored independently as part of an EDC monitoring battery of assays.

UNIVERSITY of the WESTERN CAPE



Figure 11. Bar graph of testosterone levels secreted by the mouse testicular cells exposed to low estradiol water samples (≤ 5 pg/ml; n = 13) and those exposed to high estradiol water samples (> 5 pg/ml; n = 15). The testosterone levels of the two groups are not significantly different from each other (P = 0.166). Vertical bars represent the average testosterone concentrations synthesized by the mouse testicular cells, whereas error bars represent standard error of mean.

3.4 Conclusion

Water is a very important natural resource and the availability of safe water is crucial to the life and good health of both humans and animals. However, there are major concerns that this very important natural resource is being contaminated by EDCs together with other pollutants such as pathogens and toxic chemicals (Mbazo, 2006). EDCs are not only altering normal hormone levels or activity in the body, but are also causing a number of adverse effects to human and animal health. The increased incidence of contamination of the environment with EDCs has necessitated the development of screening tools to detect and monitor EDCs (Snyder *et al.*, 2000). In this regard, the US EPA has set out to implement guidelines that can be used for monitoring and screening of EDCs.

Since *in vivo* methods for screening EDCs are time-consuming, expensive, laborious and require specialized skills and equipment, the US EPA recommends rapid screening methods as a first tier screen for EDCs. This is due to the fact that rapid screening tests are *in vitro*, relatively fast, inexpensive, simple to perform, very sensitive and can screen large numbers of samples at a time (US EPA, 2005).

The aim of this study was to investigate the comparison between chemical and tissue culture methods to monitor environmental estrogens. In order to achieve this aim, the first objective was to compare different rapid ELISAs for EDC monitoring. The second objective was to compare estradiol rapid ELISAs with a bioassay for anti-androgenicity using mouse testicular cell cultures. Both objectives were accomplished.

Environmental water samples were collected from various sites around South Africa and analyzed for EDCs using a battery of rapid *in vitro* tests.

This study confirmed earlier reports that estrogenic ELISAs are related/similar and show good correlations with each other (Swart and Pool, 2007). This is because the different estrogens are very similar and also due to the fact that the same sub-group in the population (the reproductively active females) is secreting these hormones. In an evaluation of commercial immunoassays for the detection of estrogens in water by comparison with high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS/MS), Farré *et al.*, 2006 reported that the rapid estrogen ELISAs gave similar results to those from HPLC-MS/MS. Studies done by Swart *et al.*, (2011) showed that similar good correlations exist between the rapid estrogen ELISA and *in vivo* and *in vitro* bioassays for estrogens. Based on this good correlation, one estradiol rapid assay is recommended as a first screening system for estrogenicity in samples.

In this study, it was observed that even though there was a positive correlation between the estradiol rapid assay and testosterone rapid assay, separation of samples based on estradiol levels wasn't a good predictor of testosterone levels. It can hence be concluded that a testosterone rapid assay is necessary to screen for androgenicity in samples.

WESTERN CAPE

This study also indicated a positive correlation between the estradiol rapid assay and progesterone rapid assay. This result was expected because both estradiol and progesterone are secreted and excreted by the same population sub-group (reproductively active females). It also showed a good predictability of separating samples containing progesterone using the estradiol ELISA. Since progesterone is secreted by pregnant women, a sub-group of the reproductively active females, it is recommended that a progesterone rapid assay be included to screen for progestogens in samples.

Bioassay screening will help determine the endocrine disrupting potency/effects of environmental water samples and can also assess the cumulative effects of EDCs without having to quantify unknown chemicals (Bovee and Hoogenboom, 2009). The mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay was used in this study to monitor anti-androgenicity. Anti-androgenicity is a function of the reduction of testosterone synthesis by these samples. The results for this study show no correlation between the ELISA data for estrogens and the data for testosterone synthesis. Many, but not all of the xenoestrogens possess anti-androgenic activity. Sohoni and Sumpter (1998) found that some other chemicals like BPA and DDT, which possess estrogenic activity, have been found to also possess anti-androgenic activity. By blocking androgen action, exposure to anti-androgens may cause changes similar to those associated with estrogenic exposure (Jobling *et al.*, 1995). Since the data for estrogenic compounds cannot be used as a predictor for anti-androgenic effects, the anti-androgenic effects need to be monitored independently. Therefore, there is a need to include a mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay to screen for androgenicity and anti-androgenicity of the water samples.

Due to the different mechanisms of action of EDCs, it is favourable to use a battery of tests for monitoring (Shelby *et al.*, 1996). Based on data generated by this study, a single rapid ELISA for an estrogen (estrone, estradiol, estriol or ethinylestradiol), a progesterone and testosterone ELISAs as rapid assays plus the mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay are recommended as part of a battery of tests for EDCs.

CHAPTER 4

Recommendations

All water resources intended for domestic, industrial, agricultural or recreational use must be routinely screened for EDCs. A US EPA report proposes a tiered strategy for screening and monitoring EDCs (Tyler *et al.*, 1998). This approach starts off with *in vitro* tests with endocrine endpoints followed by more extensive *in vivo* tests with developmental endpoints. The implementation of a battery of assays encompassing both *in vitro* and *in vivo* tests is essential for the comprehensive screening of EDCs and their effects. The implementation of the following guidelines can help mitigate the adverse health effects associated with exposure to environmental estrogens:

UNIVERSITY of the

- Only one estrogenic ELISA is recommended in a battery of assays to monitor for environmental estrogens.
- To complete the battery of assays (in order to obtain a holistic picture inclusive of the potential effects of environmental estrogens), it is necessary to perform an estrogenic assay, an androgenic assay and an anti-androgenic assay.
- Therefore, the following assays are recommended as a first tier battery of assays for monitoring EDCs:
 - Estradiol, testosterone and progesterone ELISAs as rapid assays to screen for estrogens, androgens and progestogens respectively.

68

 Mouse testicular cell testosterone synthesis bioassay to screen for androgenicity and anti-androgenicity.

In order to monitor our environment, it is also recommended that further assays to comprehensively screen for EDCs be developed. It is also important that these rapid assays be affordable and use species relevant to a particular area. Very importantly, these *in vitro* assays need to be confirmed with further *in vivo* studies.

The media needs to be encouraged to highlight the growing problem of EDCs and sensitize the public. Government agencies need to implement guidelines that will safeguard the health of humans and wildlife from EDCs. Routine monitoring of water sources needs to be incorporated into standard routines by the water supply sector, to screen water for EDCs.

Lastly but certainly not least, as Marchese (2006) proposes, there are many actions we can take, both to reduce our personal risk and reduce the amount of dangerous chemicals that enter the environment to begin with. These actions comprise avoiding plastics as much as possible, eating fish low in mercury and fat, eating organic food whenever possible, using natural pest control instead of pesticides and herbicides, increasing awareness about EDCs and supporting efforts to increase EDC research and government regulation of EDCs to mention a few.

REFERENCES

Almstrup, K., Fernandez, M.F., Petersen, J.H., Olea, N., Skakkebaek, N.E. and Leffers, H. 2002. Dual effects of phytoestrogens result in U-shaped dose-response curves. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **110**: 743-748.

Amiard, J.C., Amiard-Triquet, C., Barka, S., Pellerin, J. and Rainbow, P.S. 2006. Metallothioneins in aquatic invertebrates: their role in metal detoxification and their use as biomarkers. *Aquatic Toxicology*, **76**: 160-202.

Andersson, T. and Förlin, L. 1992. Regulation of the cytochrome P450 enzyme system in fish. *Aquatic Toxicology*, **24:** 1-20.

Ando, H., Swanson, P., Kitani, T., Koide, N., Okada, H., Ueda, H. and Urano, A. 2004. Synergistic effects of salmon gonadotropin-releasing hormone and estradiol-17 β on gonadotropin subunit gene expression and release in masu salmon pituitary cells *in vitro*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, **137**: 109-121.

Ang, D., Liberek, K., Skowyra, D., Zylicz, M. and Georgopoulos, C. 1991. Biological role and regulation of the universally conserved heat shock proteins (Mini review). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **266**: 24233-24236.

Angus, R.A., McNatt, H.B., Howell, W.M. and Peoples, S.D. 2001. Gonopodium development in normal male and 11-ketotestosterone-treated female mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*): a quantitative study using computer image analysis. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, **123** (2): 222-234. Angus, R.A., Weaver, S.A., Grizzle, J.M. and Watson, R.D. 2002. Reproductive characteristics of male mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis*) inhabiting a small southeastern US river receiving treated domestic sewage effluent. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **21** (7): 1404-1409.

Anulacion, B.F., Myers, M.S., Willis, M.L. and Collier, T.K. 1998. Quantitation of CYP1A expression in two flatfish species showing different prevalences of contaminant-induced hepatic disease. *Marine Environmental Research*, **46**: 7-11.

Arukwe, A. and Goksøyr, A. 2003. Eggshell and egg yolk proteins in fish: hepatic proteins for the next generation: oogenetic, population and evolutionary implications of endocrine disruption. *Comparative Hepatology* [online], 2: 4. Available at: http://www.comparativehepatology.com/content/2/1/4. Data accessed 2 October 2011. Awwa Research Foundation (AwwaRF). 2008. Toxicological relevance of EDCs and pharmaceuticals in drinking Available water. at: http://environmentalhealthcollaborative.org/images/91238_Toxicological_Relevance.pdf. Data WESTERN CAPE accessed 11 May 2012.

Baronti, C., Curini, R., D'Ascenzo, G., Di Corcia, A., Gentili, A. and Samperi, R. 2000. Monitoring natural and synthetic estrogens at activated sludge sewage treatment plants and in receiving river water. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **34** (**24**): 5059-5066.

Barry, J.M. 2009. John M. Barry: distinguished scholar at the Center for Bioenvironmental Research, Tulane and Xavier Universities. [Interview by Madeline Drexler]. *Biosecurity and Bioterrorism: Biodefense Strategy, Practice, and Science*, **7** (2): 127-133.

Batty, J. and Lim, R.P. 1999. Morphological and reproductive characteristics of male mosquitofish (*Gambusia affinis holbrooki*) inhabiting sewage contaminated waters in New South Wales, Australia. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, **36** (3): 301-307.

Beamand, J.A., Price, R.J., Cunninghame, M.E. and Lake, B.G. 1993. Culture of precision-cut liver slices: Effect of some peroxisome proliferators. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, **31**: 137-147.

Becker, J. and Craig, E.A. 1994. Heat-shock proteins as molecular chaperones (Review). *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **219:** 11-23.

Beckmann, R.P., Mizzen, L.E. and Welch, W.J. 1990. Interaction of HSP70 with newly synthesized proteins: implications for protein folding and assembly. *Science*, **248**: 850-854. Belfroid, A.C., Van Der Horst, A., Vethaak, A.D., Schäfer, A.J., Rijs, G.B.J., Wegener, J. and Cofina, W.P. 1999. Analysis and occurrence of estrogenic compounds and their glucuronides in surface and waste water in the Netherlands. *Science of the Total Environment*, **225**: 101-108.

Bell, E.M., Hertz-Picciotto, I. and Beaumont, J.J. 2001. A case-control study of pesticides and fetal death due to congenital anomalies. *Epidemiology*, **12**: 148-156.

Beresford, N., Routledge, E.J., Harris, C.A. and Sumpter, J.P. 2000. Issues arising when interpreting results from an *in vitro* assay for estrogenic activity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **162**: 22-33.

Bermanian, V., Male, R. and Goksøyr, A. 2004. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated disruption of vitellogenin synthesis in the fish liver: cross talk between AHR- and ER α -

signalling pathways. *Comparative Hepatology* [online], **3:** 2. Available at: http://www.comparative-hepatology.com/content/3/1/2. Data accessed 2 October 2010.

Bigsby, R., Chapin, R.E., Daston, G.P., Davis, B.J., Gorski, J., Gray, L.E., Howdeshell, K.L., Zoeller, R.T. and vom Saal, F.S. 1999. Evaluating the effects of endocrine disruptors on endocrine function during development. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **107** (**4**): 613-618.

Blaise, C., Gagné, F., Pellerin, J. and Hansen, P.D. 1999. Determination of vitellogenin-like properties in *Mya arenaria* hemolymph (Saguenay Fjord, Canada): a potential biomarker for endocrine disruption. *Environmental Toxicology*, **14**: 455-465.

Blau, K. and Halket, J.M.	1993. Handbook for Derivatives for Chromatography, p369
Chichester: John Wiley & Son	s Ltd.
Bortone, S. and Davis, W.	1994. Fish intersexuality as indicator of environmental stress
Bioscience, 44 (3): 165-172.	UNIVERSITY of the

Bortone, S.A. and Cody, R.P. 1999. Morphological masculinization in poeciliid females from a paper mill effluent receiving tributary of the St. Johns River, Florida, USA. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, **63** (2): 150-156.

Bovee, T.F.H. and Hoogenboom, L.A.P. 2009. Bioassays for the detection of hormonal activities. In: Shaw, I. (Editor), *Endocrine-disrupting Chemicals in Food*, Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing Limited.

Bowden, J.A., Colosi, D.M., Mora-Montero, D.C., Garrett, T.J. and Yost, R.A. 2009. Evaluation of derivatization strategies for the comprehensive analysis of endocrine disrupting compounds using GC/MS. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, **47**: 44-51.

Bowman, J.C., Zhou, J.L. and Readman, J.W. 2002. Sediment–water interactions of natural oestrogens under estuarine conditions. *Marine Chemistry*, **77**: 263-276.

Brian, J.V., Harris, C.A., Scholze, M., Backhaus, T., Booy, P., Lamoree, M., Pojana, G., Jonkers, N., Runnalls, T., Bonfà, A., Marcomini, A. and Sumpter, J.P. 2005. Accurate prediction of the responses of freshwater fish to a mixture of estrogenic chemicals. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **113** (6): 721-728.

Brzozowski, A.M., Pike, A.C., Dauter, Z., Hubbard, R.E., Bonn, T., Engstrom, O., Ohman, L., Greene, G.L., Gustafsson, J.A. and Carlquist, M. 1997. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. *Nature*, **389**: 753-758.

Bucheli, T.D. and Fent, K. 1995. Induction of cytochrome P450 as a biomarker for environmental contamination in aquatic ecosystems. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, **25**: 201-268.

Buhler, D.R., Miranda, C.L., Henderson, M.C., Yang, Y.H., Lee, S.J. and Wang-Buhler, J.L. 2000. Effects of 17 beta-estradiol and testosterone on hepatic mRNA/protein levels and catalytic activities of CYP2M1, CYP2K1 and CYP3A27 in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **168**: 91-101.

Bulger, W.H., Muccitelli, R.M. and Kupfer, D. 1978. Studies on the *in vivo* and *in vitro* estrogenic activities of methoxychlor and its metabolites. Role of hepatic mono-oxygenase in methoxychlor activation. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **27**: 2417-2423.

Burke, M.D. and Mayer, R.T. 1974. Ethoxyresorufin: direct fluorimetric assay of a microsomal O-dealkylation which is preferentially inducible by 3-methylcholanthrene. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition*, **2:** 583-588.

Bursztyka, J., Perdu, E., Pettersson, K., Pongraz, I., Fernandez-Cabrera, M., Olea, N., Debrauwer, L., Zalko, D. and Cravedi, J.P. 2008. Biotransformation of genistein and bisphenol A in cell lines used for screening endocrine disruptors. *Toxicology in Vitro*, **22**: 1595-1604.

Cantrell, S.M., Lutz, L.H., Tillitt, D.E. and Hannink, M. 1996. Embryotoxicity of 2, 3, 7, 8tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD): the embryonic vasculature is a physiological target for TCDD-induced DNA damage and apoptotic cell death in medaka (*Orizias latipes*). *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **141**: 23-34.

Chakrabarti, P., Hatcher, M.F., Blake, R.C., Ladd, P.A. and Blake, D.A. 1994. Enzyme immunoassay to determine heavy metals using antibodies to specific metal-EDTA complexes: Optimization and validation of an immunoassay for soluble indium. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **217:** 70-75.

Charles, G.D., Bartels, M.J., Gennings, C. and others. 2000. Incorporation of S-9 activation into an ER-α transactivation assay. *Reproductive Toxicology*, **14**: 207-216.

Colborn, T., vom Saal, F.S. and Soto, A.M. 1993. Developmental effects of endocrine-disrupting chemicals in wildlife and humans. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **101** (5): 378-384.

Colborn, T. 1995. Environmental estrogens: health implications for human and wildlife. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **103**: 135-136.

Costa, P.M., Repolho, T., Caeiro, S., Diniz, M.E., Moura, I. and Costa, M.H. 2007. Modelling metallothionein induction in the liver of *Sparus aurata* exposed to metal-contaminated sediments. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, **71** (1): 117-124.

Crisp, T.M, Clegg, E.D., Cooper, R.L., Wood, W.P., Anderson, D.G., Baetcke, K.P., Hoffmann, J.L., Morrow, M.S., Rodier, D.J., Schaeffer, J.E., Touart, L.W., Zeeman, M.G. and Patel, Y.M. 1998. Environmental endocrine disruption: An effects assessment and analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **106** (1): 11-56.

Cyr, D.G. and Eales, J.G. 1996. Interrelationships between thyroidal and reproductive endocrine systems in fish. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **6:** 165-200.

Damstra, T., Barlow, S., Bergman, A., Kavlock, R. and van der Kraak, G. 2002. REPIDISCA – Global assessment of the state-of-the-science of endocrine disruptors. International programme on chemical safety, World Health Organization. Available at: http://bases.bireme.br/cgibin/wxislind.exe/iah/online/?IsisScript=iah/iah.xis&src=google&base=REPIDISCA&lang=p&ne xtAction=lnk&exprSearch=7600&indexSearch=ID. Data accessed 2 October 2010.

Daniel, A.R., Qiu, M., Faivre, E.J., Ostrander, J.H., Skildum, A. and Lange, C.A. 2007. Linkage of progestin and epidermal growth factor signaling: phosphorylation of progesterone receptors mediates transcriptional hypersensitivity and increased ligand-independent breast cancer cell growth. *Steroids*, **72**: 188-201.

De Boer, J., Van der Horst, A. and Wester, P.G. 2000. PBDEs and PBBs in suspended particulate matter, sediments, sewage treatment plant influents and effluents and biota from the Netherlands. *Organohalogen Compounds*, **47**: 85-88.

Denslow, N.D., Chow, M.C., Kroll, K.J. and Green, L. 1999. Vitellogenin as biomarker of exposure for estrogen or estrogen mimics. *Ecotoxicology*, **8**: 385-398.

Derham, B.K. and Harding, J.J. 1999. α-Crystallin as a molecular chaperone. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, **18:** 463 -509.

DeRosa, C., Richter, P., Pohl, H. and Jones, D.E. 1998. Environmental exposures that affect the endocrine system: Public health implications. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B: Critical Reviews*, **1:** 1.

Desbrow, C., Routledge, E.J., Brighty, G.C., Sumpter, J.P. and Waldock, M. 1998. Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluent. 1. Chemical fractionation and *in vitro* biological screening. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **32**: 1549-1558.

DeVito, M.J. and Birnbaum, L.S. 1994. Toxicology of dioxins and related chemicals. In: Schecter, A. (Editor), *Dioxins and health*, 139-162. Plenum Press: New York.

Ding, L.D. 2005. Vitellogenesis and Vitellogenin Uptake into Oocytes. In: Melamed, P. and Sherwood, N. (Editors), *Hormones and their Receptors in Fish Reproduction*, 254-276. Hackensack, NJ: World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd.

Doyle, C. and Lim, R. 2002. The effect of 17 beta-estradiol on the gonopodial development and sexual activity of *Gambusia holbrooki*. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **21**: 2712724.

Doyle, C.J., Barker, J., Lim, R.P. and Gray, L. 2003. Reproductive morphology of male mosquitofish (*Gambusia holbrooki*) inhabiting sewage-contaminated waters in the South Creek catchment of the Hawkesbury-Nepean River. In: Proceedings of Chemicals of Concern in Water

Speciality Conference 2003, Chemicals of Concern in Water, Sydney. Australian Water Association and International Water Association, p. 10.

Duellman, W.E. and Trueb, L. 1986. Biology of amphibians. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Duff, B. and DeAvila, M. 2005. Presence/absence of estrogen in the Raccoon river watershed and Des Moines Water Works treatment process. *Des Moines Water Works Laboratory*, Available at: http://www.dmww.com/upl/documents/water-quality/lab-reports/labstudies/presence-of-estrogen-in-the-raccoon-river-watershed.pdf. Data accessed 1 May 2012.

Ebrahim, M. 2010. The implementation of *in vitro* assays to screen environmental samples for male reproductive toxicity, MSc Thesis, University of the Western Cape, South Africa.

Eljarrat, E., Lacorte, S. and Barcelo, D. 2002. Optimization of congener-specific analysis of 40 polybrominated diphenyl ethers by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry*, **37** (1): 76-84.

Emerson, S.B., Greig, A., Carroll, L. and Prins, G.S. 1999. Androgen receptors in two androgenmediated, sexually dimorphic characters of frogs. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, **114:** 173-180.

Epstein, M.S. and Blackburn, D.G. 1997. Histology and histochemistry of androgen-stimulated nuptial pads in the leopard frog, *Rana pipiens*, with notes on nuptial gland evolution. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, **74:** 472-477.

Eriksson, P., Lundkvist, U. and Fredriksson, A. 1991. Neonatal exposure to 3, 3', 4, 4'tetrachlorobiphenyl: changes in spontaneous behaviour and cholinergic muscarinic receptors in the adult mouse. *Toxicology*, **69** (1): 27-34.

Esterhuyse, M. 2008. Sex determination and differentiation control pathways in fish and the relevance to bio-indicating endocrine disruption in aquatic systems, PhD Dissertation, University of Stellenbosch, South Africa.

Estévez-Alberola, M.C. and Marco, M.P. 2004. Immunochemical determination of xenobiotics with endocrine disrupting effects. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **378 (3):** 563-575.

Falconer, I.R. 2006. Are endocrine disrupting compounds a health risk in drinking water? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, **3** (2): 180-184.

Farré, M., Brix, R., Kuster, M., Rubio, F., Goda, Y., López de Alda, M.J. and Barcel, D. 2006. Evaluation of commercial immunoassays for the detection of estrogens in water by comparison with high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry HPLC-MS/MS (QqQ). *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **385** (6): 1001-1011.

Fincato, G., Polentarutti, N., Sica, A., Mantovani, A. and Colotta, F. 1991. Expression of a heatinducible gene of HSP70 family in human myelomonocytic cells: regulation by bacterial products and cytokines. *Blood*, **77**: 579-586.

Fink, A.F. 1999. Chaperone-mediated protein folding. *Physiological Reviews*, **79:** 425-449.

Flouriot, G., Pakdel, F., Ducouret, B. and Valotaire, Y. 1995. Influence of xenobiotics on rainbow trout liver estrogen receptor and vitellogenin gene expression. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, **15**: 143-51.

Forreiter, C. and Nover, L. 1998. Heat induced stress proteins and the concept of molecular chaperones. *Journal of Biosciences*, **23**: 287-302.

Friedman, S.B. and Allen, R.L. 1994. International publication number WO 94/12536.

79

Fu, K.Y., Chen, C.Y., Lin, C.T. and Chang, W.M. 2008. Molecular cloning and tissue distribution of three estrogen receptors from the cyprinid fish *Varicorhinus barbatulus*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic and Environmental Physiology*, **178**: 189-197.

Fujikura, K., Kurabuchi, S., Tabuchi, M. and Inoue, S. 1988. Morphology and distribution of the skin glands in *Xenopus laevis* and their response to experimental stimulations. *Zoologica Scripta*, 5: 415-430.

Gagné, F., Pardos, M. and Blaise, C. 1999. Estrogenic effects of organic environmental extracts with the trout hepatocyte vitellogenin assay. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, **62**: 723-730.

Gaido, K.W., Maness, S.C., Leonard, L., Gould, J., Conner, K., Safe, S. and McDonnell C. 1998. *In vitro* methods for characterizing chemical interactions with steroid receptors. In: Dunaif, G.E., Olin, S.S., Scimeca, J.A. and Thomas, J.A. (Editors), *Human Diet and Endocrine Modulation: Estrogenic and Androgenic Effects*, 85-94. Washington DC: International Life Sciences Institute.

Gail, P.R. and Hedger, M.P. 1992. Adult rat Leydig cell cultures: minimum requirements for maintenance of luteinizing hormone responsiveness and testosterone production. *Molecular and Cell Endocrinology*, **83:** 128-132.

Gillesby, B.E. and Zacharewski, T.R. 1998. Exoestrogens - mechanisms of action and strategies for identification and assessment. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **17:** 3-14.

Glick, I.D. 1967. Mood and behavioural changes associated with the use of the oral contraceptive agents: A review of the literature. *Psychopharmacologia*, **10**: 363-374.

Goksøyr, A. and Husøy, A.M. 1998. Immunochemical approaches to studies of CYP1A localization and induction by xenobiotics in fish. In: Braunbeck, T., Hinton, D.E. and Streit, B. (Editors), *Fish Ecotoxicology*, 165-202. Basel: Birkhäuser Verlag.

Gray, L.E., Klinefelter, G., Kelce, W., Laskey, J., Ostby, J. and Ewing, L. 1995. Hamster Leydig cells are less sensitive to ethane dimethanesulfonate when compared to rat Leydig cells both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **130**: 248-256.

Gray, L.E., Kelce, W.R., Wiese, T. and others. 1997. Endocrine screening methods workshop report. *Reproductive Toxicology*, **11**: 719-750.

Green, C.D. and Tata, J.R. 1976. Direct induction by estradiol of vitellogenin synthesis in organ cultures of male *X. laevis* liver. *Cell*, **7**: 131-139.

Gronen, S., Denslow, N., Manning, S., Barnes, S., Barnes, D. and Brower, M. 1999. Serum vitellogenin levels and reproductive impairment of male Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) exposed to 4-tert-octylphenol. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **107**: 385-389.

Guillette, L.J., Crain, D.A., Gunderson, M.P., Kools, S.A.E., Milnes, M.R., Orlando, E.F., Rooney, A.A. and Woodward, A.R. 2000. Alligators and endocrine disrupting contaminants: a current perspective. *American Zoologist*, **40**: 438-452.

Guillouzo, A. 1998. Liver cell models in *in vitro* toxicology. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **106:** 511-532.

Hansen, P.D., Dizer, H., Hock, B., Marx, A., Sherry, J., McMaster, M. and Blaise, C. 1998. Vitellogenin: a biomarker for endocrine disruptors. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, **17**: 448-451.

Harris, C.A., Henttu, P., Parker, M.G. and Sumpter, J.P. 1997. The Estrogenic Activity of Phthalate Esters *in vitro*. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **105**: 802-811.

Harrison, P.T.C., Humfrey, C.D.N., Litchfield, M., Peakall, D. and Shuker, L.K. 1995. Environmental oestrogens: consequences to human health and wildlife. IEH assessment. Medical Research Council, Institute for Environment and Health. Available at: http://www.cranfield.ac.uk/health/researchareas/environmenthealth/ieh/ieh%20publications/a1.p df. Data accessed 14 September 2010.

Hartl, F.U. 1996. Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. Nature, 381: 571-580.

Hartl, F.U., Bracher, A. and Hayer-Hartl, M. 2011. Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature*, 475: 324-332.
Henley, D.V. and Korach, K.S. 2006. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals use distinct mechanisms of action to modulate endocrine system function. *Endocrinology*, 147: S25-32.

Heppel, S.A., Denslow, N.D., Folmar, L.C. and Sullivan, C.V. 1995. Universal assay of vitellogenin as a biomarker for environmental estrogens. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **103:** 9-15.

Herbst, A.L. 1981. Diethylstilbestrol and other sex hormones during pregnancy. *Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, **58** (**5**): 35S-40S.

Herman-Giddens, M.E., Slora, E.J., Wasserman, R.C., Bourdony, C.J., Bhapkar, M.V., Koch, G.G. & Hasemeier, C.M. 1997. Secondary sexual characteristics and menses in young girls seen in office practice: a study from the pediatric research in office settings network. *Pediatrics*, **99**: 505-512.

Howell, W.M., Black, D.A. and Bortone, S.A. 1980. Abnormal expression of secondary sex characters in a population of mosquitofish, *Gambusia affinis holbrookii*: evidence for environmentally induced masculinization. *Copeia*, **1980**: 676-681.

Huang, C.H. and Sedlak, D.L. 2001. Analysis of estrogenic hormones in municipal wastewater effluent and surface water using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and gas chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **20** (1): 133-139.

Hurter, E., Pool, E.J. and van Wyk. J.H. 2002. Validation of an *ex vivo* liver slice bioassay for environmental estrogens and estrogen mimics. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, **53**: 178-187.

IEH 1999. IEH Assessment on the ecological significance of endocrine disruption: effects on reproductive function and consequences for natural populations (Assessment A4). Leicester, UK: MRC Institute for Environmental Health.

Iwama, G.K., Thomas, P.T., Forsyth, R.B. and Vijayan, M.M. 1998. Heat shock protein expression in fish. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, **8:** 35-56.

Jackson, R.L., Lin, H.Y., Mao, J.T., Chan, L. and Means, A.R. 1977. Estrogen induction of plasma vitellogenin in the cockerel: studies with a phosvitin antibody. *Endocrinology*, **101**: 849-57.

Jacobson, J.L. and Jacobson, S.W. 1996. Intellectual impairment in children exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls in utero. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **335**: 783-789.

Jobling, S. and Sumpter, J.P. 1993. Detergent compounds in sewage effluent are weakly oestrogenic to fish: An *in vitro* study using rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) hepatocytes. *Aquatic Toxicology*, **27:** 361-372.

Jobling, S., Reynolds, T., White, R., Parker, M.G. and Sumpter, J.P. 1995. A variety of environmentally persistent chemicals, including some phthalate plasticizers are weakly estrogenic. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **103** (6): 582-587.

Johnson, J.C. and Van Emon, J.M. 1996. Quantitative enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for determination of polychlorinated biphenyls in environmental soil and sediment samples. *Analytical Chemistry*, **68**: 162-169.

Kägi, J.H. 1991. Overview of metallothionein. Methods in Enzymology, 205: 613-26.

Kavlock, R.J., Daston, G.P., Derosa, C., Fenner-Crisp, P., Gray, L.E., Kaatari, S., Lucier, G., Luster, M., Mac, M.J., Maczka, C., Miller, R., Moore, J., Rolland, R., Scott, G., Sheehan, D.M., Sinks, T. and Tilson, H.A. 1996. Research needs for the risk assessment of health and environmental effects of endocrine disruptors: A report of the US EPA-sponsored workshop. *Environmental Health Perspectives Supplements*, **104**: 715-740.

Kelce, W.R. and Gray, L.E. 1999. Environmental anti-androgens as endocrine disruptors. In: Naz, R.K. (Editor), *Endocrine Disruptors: Effects on Male and Female Reproductive Systems*, 247-278. New York: CRC Press.

Kelley, D.B. and Pfaff, D.W. 1976. Hormone effects on male sex behaviour in adult South African clawed frogs, *Xenopus laevis*. *Hormones and Behavior*, **7** (2): 159 -182.

Kelley, P.M. and Schlesinger, M.J. 1982. Antibodies to two major chicken heat shock proteins cross-react with similar proteins in widely divergent species. *Molecular and Cell Biology*, **2**: 267-274.

Kennedy, S.W. and Jones, S.P. 1994. Simultaneous measurement of cytochrome P4501A catalytic activity and total protein concentration with a fluorescence plate reader. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **222**: 217-23.

Kime, D.E., Nash, J.P. and Scott, A.P. 1999. Vitellogenesis as a biomarker of reproductive disruption by xenobiotics. *Aquaculture*, **177**: 345-352.

Klaassen, C.D., Liu, J. and Choudhuri, S. 1999. Metallothionein: an intracellular protein to protect against cadmium toxicity. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, **39**: 267-94. Köhler, H.R., Bartussek, C., Eckwert, H., Farian, K., Gränzer, S., Knigge, T. and Kunz, N. 2001. The hepatic stress protein (hsp70) response to interacting abiotic parameters in fish exposed to various levels of pollution. *Journal of Aquatic Ecosystem Stress and Recovery*, **8**: 261-279.

Korach, K.S., Sarver, P., Chae, K., McLachlan, J.A. and McKinney, J.D. 1988. Estrogen receptor-binding activity of polychlorinated hydroxybiphenyls: conformationally restricted structural probes. *Molecular Pharmacology*, **33**: 120-126.

Kouril, P.P.J. 2009. Induction of final oocyte maturation in Cyprinidae fish by hypothalamic factors: a review. *Veterinarni Medicina*, **54** (**3**): 97-110.

Kumar, V., Balomajumder, C. and Roy, P. 2008. Disruption of LH-induced testosterone synthesis in testicular Leydig cells by triclosan: Probable mechanism of action. *Toxicology*, **250**: 124-131.

85

https://etd.uwc.ac.za/

Kumari, M.V., Hiramatsu, M. and Ebadi, M. 1998. Free radical scavenging actions of metallothionein isoforms I and II. *Free Radical Research*, **29** (2): 93-101.

Kurabuchi, S. 1993. Fine structure of nuptial pad surface of male ranid frogs. *Tissue Cell*, **25**: 589-598.

LaChapelle, A.M., Ruygrok, M.L., Toomer, M., Oost, J.J., Monnie, M.L., Swenson, J.A., Compton, A.A. and Stebbins-Boaz, B. 2007. The hormonal herbicide, 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, inhibits *Xenopus* oocyte maturation by targeting translational and post-translational mechanisms. *Reproductive Toxicology*, **23**: 20-31.

Larsson, D.G. and Forlin, L. 2002. Male-biased sex ratios of fish embryos near a pulp mill: temporary recovery after a short-term shutdown. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **110 (8)**: 739-742.

Laskey, J.W., Berman, E. and Ferrell, J.M. 1995. The use of cultured ovarian fragments to assess toxicant alterations in steroidogenesis in the Sprague-Dawley rat. *Reproductive Toxicology*, **9**: 131-141.

Lee, N., Skerritt, J. H. and McAdam, D.P. 1995. Hapten synthesis and development of ELISAs for detection of endosulfan in water and soil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **43**: 1730-1739.

Lindquist, S. 1986. The heat-shock response. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 55: 1151-1191.

Lindquist, S. and Craig, E.A. 1988. The heat-shock proteins. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 22: 631-677.

Lutz, I. and Kloas, W. 1999. Amphibians as a model to study endocrine disruptors: I. Environmental pollution and estrogen receptor binding. *Science of the Total Environment*, **225**: 49-57.

Lutz, I., Einspanier, R. and Kloas, W. 1999. Amphibians as a model to study endocrine disruptors: II. Estrogenic activity of environmental chemicals *in* vitro and *in vivo*. *Science of the Total Environment*, **225**: 59-68.

Lynch, L.C. and Blackburn, D.G. 1995. Effects of testosterone administration and gonadectomy on nuptial pad morphology on overwintering male leopard frogs, *Rana pipiens*. *Amphibia-Reptilia*, **16**: 113-121.

Marchese, M. 2006. Choosing life: What you can do about hormone-disrupting chemicals in the environment. *The Journal of Ecologically Sustainable Medicine*. 8-13.

Maitre, J.L., Valotaire, Y. and Gueguen-Guillouzo, C. 1986. Estradiol-17β stimulation of vitellogenin synthesis in primary culture of male rainbow trout hepatocytes. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology*, **22**: 337-343.

Matthiessen, P. and Gibbs, P.E. 1998. Critical appraisal of the evidence for tributyltin-mediated endocrine disruption in mollusks. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **17**: 37-43.

Matthiessen, P. 2003. An historical perspective on endocrine disruption in wildlife. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, **75**: 2197-2206.

Mbazo, D.S. 2006. The development and validation of a homologous tilapia vitellogenin enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (t-VTG-ELISA) as biomarker of estrogenic exposure, MTech Dissertation, University of Johannesburg, South Africa.

McAdam, D.P., Hill, A.S., Beasley, H.L. and Skerritt, J.H. 1992. Mono and polyclonal antibodies to the organophosphate fenitrothion: Approaches to hapten-protein conjugation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **40**: 1466-1470.

McKinlay, R., Plant, J.A., Bell, J.N.B. and Voulvoulis, N. 2008. Endocrine disrupting pesticides: Implications for risk assessment. *Environment International*, **34** (2): 168-183.

Mehrle, P.M., Buckler, D.R., Little, E.E., Smith, L.M., Petty, J.D., Peterman, P.H., Stalling, D.L., DeGraeve, G.M., Coyle, J.J. and Adams, W.J. 1988. Toxicity and bioconcentration of 2,3,7,8-tetra-chlorodibenzodioxin and 2,3,7,8-tetra-chlorodibenzofuran. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **7**: 47-62.

Metzger, D., White, J.H. and Chambon, P. 1988. The human oestrogen receptor functions in yeast. *Nature*, **334:** 31-36.

Milhan, D. 1992. DES exposure: implications for childbearing. International Journal of Childbirth Education, 7 (4): 21-28.

WESTERN CAPE

Moggs, J.G., Murphy, T.C., Lim, F.L., Moore, D.J., Stuckey, R., Antrobus, K., Kimber, I. and Orphanides, G. 2005. Anti-proliferative effect of estrogen in breast cancer cells that re-express ERalpha is mediated by aberrant regulation of cell cycle genes. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, **34** (2): 535-551.

Mondal, D., Gerlach, S.M., Datta, A, Chakravarty, G. and Abdel-Mageed, A.B. 2011. Pharmacogenomics dictate pharmacokinetics: Polymorphisms in drug-metabolizing enzymes and drug-transporters. In: Takeuchi, H. (Editor), *Readings in Advanced Pharmacokinetics*, p68. E-Book. Available at: http://cdn.intechopen.com/pdfs/35669/InTech-

Pharmacogenomics_dictate_pharmacokinetics_polymorphisms_in_drug_metabolizing_enzymes _and_drug_transporters.pdf. Accessed 14 May 2012.

Monserrat, J.M., Martínez, P.E., Geracitano, L.A., Amado, L.L., Martins, C.M., Pinho, G.L., Chaves, I.S., Ferreira-Cravo, M., Ventura-Lima, J. and Bianchini. A. 2007. Pollution biomarkers in estuarine animals: critical review and new perspectives. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, **146C**: 221-234.

Montorzi, M., Falchuk, K.H. and Vallee, B.L. 1994. *Xenopus laevis* vitellogenin is a zinc protein. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **200**: 1407-1413.

Montserrat, N., Gonzalez, A., Mendez, E., Piferrer, F. and Planas, J.V. 2004. Effects of follicle stimulating hormone on estradiol-17β production and P450 aromatase (CYP19) activity and mRNA expression in brown trout vitellogenic ovarian follicles *in vitro*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, **137**: 123-131.

Morimoto, R.I., Tissieres, A. and Georgopoulos, C. 1994. *The biology of heat shock proteins and molecular chaperones*. Cold Spring Harbor, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

Mottaleb, M.A., Usenko, S., O'Donnell, J.G., Ramirez, A.J., Brooks, B.W. and Chambliss, C. K. 2009. Gas chromatography–mass spectrometry screening methods for select UV filters, synthetic musks, alkylphenols, an antimicrobial agent, and an insect repellent in fish. *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1216** (5): 815-823.

Nebert, D.W., Puga, A. and Vasiliou, V. 1993. Role of the Ah receptor and the dioxin-inducible [Ah] gene battery in toxicity, cancer, and signal transduction. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **685**: 624-40.

Nelson, D.R., Koymans, L., Kamataki, T., Stegeman, J.J., Feyereisen, R., Waxman, D.J., Waterman, M.R., Gotoh, O., Coon, M.J., Estabrook, R.W. and others. 1996. P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, accession numbers and nomenclature. *Pharmacogenetics*, **6** (1): 1-42.

Nicolas, J.M. 1999. Vitellogenesis in fish and the effect of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon contaminants. *Aquatic Toxicology*, **45**: 77-90.

Nimrod, A.C. and Benson, W.H. 1996. Environmental estrogenic effects of alkylphenol ethoxylates. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, **26:** 335-364.

Nishikawa, Jun-ichi. 2006. Imposex in marine gastropods may be caused by binding of organotins to retinoid X receptor. *Marine Biology*, **149** (1): 117-124.

Nishikawa, M., Takemoto, S. and Takakura, Y. 2008. Heat shock protein derivatives for delivery of antigens to antigen presenting cells. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, **354** (1-2): 23-27. Nordberg, M. 1998. Metallothioneins: historical review and state of knowledge. *Talanta*, **46**:

243-254.

Nover, L. 1991. The Heat Shock Response. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

Oberdöster, E., Rittschof, D. and McClellan-Green, P. 1998. Induction of cytochrome P450 3A and heat shock protein by tributyltin in blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*. *Aquatic Toxicology*, **41**: 83-100.

Odum, J., Tittensor, S. and Ashby, J. 1998. Limitations of the MCF-7 cell proliferation assay for detecting xenobiotic oestrogens. *Toxicology in Vitro*, **12**: 273-278.
Oganesian, A., Hendricks, J.D. and Williams, D.E. 1997a. a-Naphthoflavone (ANF) acts as a weak Ah receptor agonist in vivo and antagonist *in vitro* in rainbow trout. PhD Thesis, Ch. 2. Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, USA.

Oganesian, A., Spitsbergen, J.M. and Williams, D.E. 1997b. Induction of CYP1A by indole-3carbinol, its acid condensation derivatives and other Ah ligands in high-precision liver slices from trout, mouse and rat. PhD Thesis, Ch. 4. Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, USA.

Palmer, B.D. and Palmer, S.K. 1995. Vitellogenin induction by xenobiotic estrogens in the redeared turtle and African clawed frog. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **103**: 19-25.

Palmer, B.D., Huth, L.K., Pieto, D.L. and Selcer, K.W. 1998. Vitellogenin as a biomarker for xenobiotic estrogens in an amphibian model system. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **17:** 30-36.

Panter, G.H., Thompson, R.S., Beresford, N. and Sumpter, J.P. 1999. Transformation of a nonoestrogenic steroid metabolite to an oestrogenically active substance by minimal bacterial activity. *Chemosphere*, **38** (**15**): 3579-3596.

Parks, G., Lambright, C., Orlando, E., Guillette, L.J., Ankley, G.T. and Gray, L. 2001. Masculinization of female mosquitofish in kraft mill effluent-contaminated Fenholloway River water is associated with androgen receptor agonist activity. *Toxicological Sciences*, **62** (2): 257-267.

Payne, J., Rajapakse, N., Wilkins, M. and Kortenkamp, A. 2000. Prediction and assessment of the effects of mixtures of four xenoestrogens. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **108**: 983-987.

Pelissero, C., Flouriot, G., Foucher, J.L., Bennetau, B., Dunogues, J., LeGac, F. and Sumpter, J.P. 1993. Vitellogenin synthesis in cultured hepatocytes: An *in vitro* test for the estrogenic potency of chemicals. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **44**: 263-272.

Penkowa, M. 2006. Metallothioneins are multipurpose neuroprotectants during brain pathology. *FEBS Journal*, **273:** 1857-70.

Pesticide News, 1998: DDT fact sheet. Pesticide News, 40: 18-20.

Petit, F., Le Goff, P., Cravedi, J.P., Valotaire, Y. and Pakdel, F. 1997. Two complementary bioassays for screening the estrogenic potency of xenobiotics: recombinant yeast for trout estrogen receptor and trout hepatocyte cultures. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, **19:** 321-335.

Petrovic, M., Eljarrat, E., Lopez de Alda, M.J. and Barcelo, D. 2002. Recent advances in the mass spectrometry analysis related to endocrine disrupting compounds in aquatic environmental samples. *Journal of Chromatography A*, **974:** 23-51.

Petrovic, M., Hernando, M.D., Diaz-Cruz, M.S. and Barcelo, D. 2005. Liquid chromatography– tandem mass spectrometry for the analysis of pharmaceutical residues in environmental samples: A review. *Journal of Chromatography A*, **1067** (**1–2**): 1-14.

Pohl, R.J. and Fouts, J.R. 1980. A rapid method for assaying the metabolism of 7ethoxyresorufin by microsomal subcellular fractions. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **107**: 150-5.

Pojana, G., Bonfà, A., Busetti, F., Collarin, A. and Marcomini, A. 2004. Estrogenic potential of the Venice, Italy lagoon waters. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **23** (8): 1874-1880.

Poland, A. and Knutson, J.C. 1982. 2, 3, 7, 8-tetra-chlorodibenzodioxin and related halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons: examination of the mechanism of toxicity. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, **22**: 517-554.

Plaza, G., Ulfig, K. and Tien, A.J. 2000. Immunoassays and environmental studies. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, **9** (4): 231-236.

Purvis, I.J., Chotai, D., Dykes, C.W., Lubahn, D.B., French, F.S., Wilson, E.M. and Hobden A.H. 1991. An androgen-inducible expression system for *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Gene*, **106**: 35-42.

Rainbow, P.S. 1988. The significance of trace metal concentrations in decapods. *Symposium of the Zoological Society of London*, **59:** 291-313.

Rasmussen, T.H. and Nielsen, J.B. 2002. Critical parameters in the MCF-7 cell proliferation bioassay (E-Screen). *Biomarkers*, **7:** 322-336.

Rastogi, R.K. and Chieffi, G. 1971. Effects of an anti-androgen, cyproterone acetate, on the pars distalis of pituitary and thumb pad of the male green frog, *Rana esculenta L. Steroidologia*, **2**: 276-282.

Rattner, B.A., Melancon, M.J., Custer, T.W., Hothem, R.L., King, K.A., LeCaptain, L.J., Spann, J.W., Woodin, B.R. and Stegeman, J.J. 1993. Biomonitoring environmental contamination with pipping blackcrowned night heron embryos: induction of cytochrome P450. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **12**: 1719-1732.

Recabarren, S.E., Rojas-García, P.P., Recabarren, M.P., Alfaro, V.H., Smith, R., Padmanabhan, V. and Sir-Petermann, T. 2008. Prenatal testosterone excess reduces sperm count and motility. *Endocrinology*, **149** (**12**): 6444-6448.

Redding, J.M. and Patino, R. 1993. Reproductive physiology. In: Evans, D.H. (Editor), *The Physiology of Fishes*, 503-534. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

Reddy, S., Iden, C.R. and Brownawell, B.J. 2005. Analysis of Steroid Conjugates in Sewage Influent and Effluent by Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry*, **77**: 7032-7038.

Reinecke, M. and Segner, H. 1998. Immunohistochemical localization of cytochrome P4501A in developing turbot, *Scophthalmus maximus. Marine Environmental Research*, 46: 487-492.Rhind, S.M. 2005. Are Endocrine Disrupting Compounds a Threat to Farm Animal Health,

Welfare and Productivity? Reproduction in Domestic Animals, 40 (4): 282-290.

Rhind, S.M. 2009. Anthropogenic pollutants: a threat to ecosystem sustainability? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **364** (**1534**): 3391-3401.

Richardson, S. 2002. Environmental Mass Spectrometry: Emerging Contaminants and Current Issues, *Analytical Chemistry*, **74**: 2719-2742.

Rodgers-Gray, T.P., Jobling, S. and Kelly, C. 2001. Exposure of juvenile roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) to treated sewage effluent induces dose-dependent and persistent disruption in gonadal duct development. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **35** (**3**): 462-470.

Roesijadi, G. 1992. Metallothioneins in metal regulation and toxicity in aquatic animals. *Aquatic Toxicology*, **22:** 81-114.

Routledge, E.J. and Sumpter, J.P. 1996. Estrogenic activity of surfactants and some of their degradation products assessed using a recombinant yeast screen. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **15** (**3**): 241-248.

Safe, S.H. and Gaido, K.W. 1998. Phytoestrogens and anthropogenic estrogenic compounds. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **17:** 119-126.

Sanders, B.M. 1990. Stress proteins: potential as multitiered biomarkers. In: McCarthy, J. & Shugart, L.R. (Editors), *Biomarkers of Environmental Contamination*, 165-191. Boca Raton, FL: Lewis Publishers.

Sanders, B. 1993. Stress proteins in aquatic organisms: An environmental perspective. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, 23: 49-75.
Santoro, M.G. 2000. Heat shock factors and the control of the stress response. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 59 (1): 55-63.

Schlesinger, M.J. 1990. Heat shock proteins (Minireview). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **265**: 12111-12114.

Scott, A.P., Nagahama, Y., van den Kraak, G. and Nagler, J.J. 1995. Sulfation and uptake of the maturation-inducing steroid, 17α , 20β -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one by rainbow trout ovarian follicles. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, **14:** 301-311.

Seglan, P.O. 1975. Preparation of isolated rat liver cells. *Methods in Cell Biology*, 13: 29-83.

Sharpe, R.M. and Skakkebaek, N.E. 1993. Are oestrogens involved in falling sperm count and disorders of the male reproductive tract? *Lancet*, **341**: 1392-1395.

95

Shelby, M.D., Newbold, R.R., Tully, D.B., Chae, K. and Davis, V.L. 1996. Assessing environmental chemicals for oestrogenicity using a combination of *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **104** (**12**): 1296-1300.

Shilling A.D. and Williams, D.E. 2000. Determining relative estrogenicity by quantifying vitellogenin induction in rainbow trout liver slices. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **164**: 330-335.

Sigel, R., Sigel, A. and Sigel, H. 2007. *The Ubiquitous Roles of Cytochrome P450 Proteins: Metal Ions in Life Sciences*. New York: Wiley.

Sigel, A., Sigel, H. and Sigel, R.K.O. 2009. *Metallothioneins and Related Chelators: Metal Ions in Life Sciences*. Cambridge: RSC Publishing.

Sikka, S.C., Swerdloff, R.S. and Rajfer, J. 1985. *In vitro* inhibition of testosterone biosynthesis by ketoconazole. *Endocrinology*, **116** (5): 1920-1925.

Silva, E., Rajapakse, N. and Kortenkamp, A. 2002. Something from "nothing" - eight weak estrogenic chemicals combined at concentrations below NOECs produce significant mixture effects. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **36**: 1751-1756.

Smirnov, L.P., Sukhovskaya, I.V. and Nemova, N.N. 2005. Effects of environmental factors on low-molecular-weight peptides of fishes: a review. *Russian Journal of Ecology*, **36**: 41-47.

Snyder, S.A., Keith, T.L., Verbrugge, D.A., Snyder, E.M., Gross, T.S., Kannan, K. and Giesy, J.P. 1999. Analytical methods for detection of selected estrogenic compounds in aqueous mixtures. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **33**: 2814-2820.

Snyder, S.A., Snyder, E., Villeneuve, D., Kurunthachalam, K., Villalobos, A., Blankenship A and others. 2000. Instrumental and bioanalytical measures of endocrine disruptors in water. In: Keith, L.H., Jones-Lepp, T.L. and Needham, L.L (Editors), *Analysis of Environmental Endocrine Disruptors*, 73-95. ACS Symposium Series 747; Washington, DC: American Chemical Society.

Sohoni, P. and Sumpter, J.P. 1998. Several environmental estrogens are also anti-androgens. *Journal of Endocrinology*, **158**: 327-339.

Soontornchat, S., Li, M.H., Cooke, P.S. and Hansen, L.G. 1994. Toxicokinetic and toxicodynamic influences on endocrine disruption by polychlorinated biphenyls. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **102**: 568-571.

Soto, A.M., Chung, K.L. and Sonnenschein, C. 1994. The pesticide endosulfan, toxaphene, and dieldrin have estrogenic effects on human estrogen-sensitive cells. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **102** (**4**): 380-384.

Soto, A.M, Sonnenschein, C., Chung, K.L., Fernandez, M.F., Olea, N. and Serrano, F.O. 1995. The E-screen assay as a tool to identify estrogens: An update on estrogenic environmental pollutants. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **103** (7): 113-122.

Soto, A.M., Maffini, M.V., Schaeberle, C.M. and Sonnenschein, C. 2006. Strengths and weaknesses of *in vitro* assays for estrogenic and androgenic activity. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, **20** (1): 15-33.

Soule, H.D., Vazquez, J., Long, A., Albert, S. and Brennan, M.A. 1973. A human cell line from a pleural effusion derived from a breast carcinoma. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, **57**: 1409-1412.

Soverchia, L., Ruggeri, B., Palermo, F., Mosconi, G., Cardinaletti, G., Scortichini, G., Gatti, G. and Polzonetti-Magni, A.M. 2005. Modulation of vitellogenin synthesis through estrogen receptor beta-1 in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) juveniles exposed to 17β-estradiol and nonylphenol. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **209**: 236-243.

Stegeman, J.J. 1992. Nomenclature for hydrocarbon-inducible cytochrome P450 in fish. *Marine Environmental Research*, **34**: 133-138.

Stegeman, J.J. 1993. Cytochrome P450 forms in fish. In: Schenkman, J.B., Greim, H. (Editors), *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, **105:** 279-291. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

Sumpter, J.P. 1995. Feminized responses in fish to environmental estrogens. *Toxicology Letters*, 83: 737-742.

Sumpter, J.P. and Jobling, S. 1995. Vitellogenesis as a biomarker for estrogenic contamination of the aquatic environment. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **103**: 173-178.

Swan, S.H. 2000. Intrauterine exposure to diethylstilbestrol: Long-term effects in humans. APMIS: Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica et Immunologica Scandinavica, **108** (**12**): 793-804.

Swart, N. and Pool, E. 2007. Rapid detection of selected steroid hormones from sewage effluents using an ELISA in the Kuils River water catchment area, South Africa. *Journal of Immunoassay and Immunochemistry*, **28** (**4**): 395-408.

Swart, J.C and Pool, E.J. 2009. Development of a bio-assay for estrogens using estrogen receptor alpha gene expression by MCF-7 cells as biomarker. *Journal of Immunoassay and Immunochemistry*, **30:** 150-165.

Swart, J.C., Pool, E.J. and van Wyk, J.H. 2011. The implementation of a battery of *in vivo* and *in vitro* bioassays to assess river water for estrogenic endocrine disrupting chemicals. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, **74**: 138-143.

Szabo, D.T., Richardson, V.M., Ross, D.G., Diliberto, J.J., Kodavanti, P.R. and Birnbaum, L.S. 2009. Effects of perinatal PBDE exposure on hepatic phase I, phase II, phase III and deiodinase 1 gene expression involved in thyroid hormone metabolism in male rat pups. *Toxicological Sciences*, **107** (1): 27-39.

Tagawa, M., Suzuki, K. and Specker, J.L. 2000. Incorporation and metabolism of cortisol in oocytes of tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, **287:** 485-492.

Ternes, T.A., Andersen, H.R., Gilberg, D. and Bonerz, M. 2002. Determination of estrogens in sludge and sediments by liquid extraction and GC/MS/MS. *Analytical Chemistry*, **74**: 3498-3505.

Thirumoorthy, N., Sunder, A.S., Kumar, K.T.M, Kumar, S.M., Ganesh, G.N.K. and Chatterjee, M. 2011. A review of metallothionein isoforms and their role in pathophysiology. *World Journal of Surgical Oncology*, **9:** 54.

Thomas, E.O., Tsang, L. and Light, P. 1993. Comparative histochemistry of the sexually dimorphic skin glands of anuran amphibians. *Copeia*, **1**: 133-143.

Thorpe, K.L., Cummings, R.I., Hutchinson, T.H., Scholze, M., Brighty, G., Sumpter, J.P. and Tyler, C.R. 2003. Relative potencies and combination effects of steroidal estrogens in fish. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **37**: 1142-1149.

Toomey, B.H., Monteverdi, G.H. and Di Giulio, R.T. 1999. Octylphenol induces vitellogenin production and cell death in fish hepatocytes. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **18**: 734-739.

Tremblay, A., Tremblay, G.B., Labrie, C., Labrie, F. and Giguere, V. 1998. EM-800, a novel antiestrogen, acts as a pure antagonist of the transcriptional functions of estrogen receptors α and β . *Endocrinology*, **139**: 111-118.

Turner C. 1941. Morphogenesis of the gonopodium in *Gambusia affinis affinis*. Journal of Morphology, **69**: 161-185.

Turner, C.L. 1942a. Morphogenesis of the gonopodial suspensorium in *Gambusia affinis affinis* and the induction of male suspensorium characters in the female by androgenic hormones. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, **91:** 167-193.

Turner, C.L. 1942b. A quantitative study of the effects of different concentrations of ethinyl testosterone and methyl testosterone in the production of gonopodia in females of *Gambusia affinis affinis*. *Zoologica*, **91**: 263-280.

Turner, C. 1947. The rate of morphogenesis and regeneration of the gonopodium in normal and castrated males of *Gambusia affinis*. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, **106**: 125143.

Tyler, C.R., Jobling, S. and Sumpter, J.P. 1998. Endocrine disruption in wildlife: a critical review of the evidence. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, **28** (**4**): 319-361.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 1997a. Interim report to the EDSTAC submitted by the screening and testing work group. Endocrine Disruptor Screening

100

Program (EDSP). Available at: http://www.epa.gov/endo/pubs/edsparchive/interi10.htm. Data accessed 8 May 2012.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 1997b. Special report on environmental endocrine disruption: an effects assessment and analysis. Washington, DC: Office of Research and Development. EPA/630/R-96/012. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/raf/publications/pdfs/ENDOCRINE.PDF. Data accessed 15 May 2012.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 1998. Endocrine disruptor screening and testing advisory committee (EDSTAC) final report. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/endo/pubs/edspoverview/finalrpt.htm. Data accessed 25 February 2012.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 2005. Final detailed review paper on steroidogenesis screening assays and endocrine disruptors. Available at: http://www.epa.gov/endo/pubs/edmvs/steroidogenesis_drp_final_3_29_05.pdf. Data accessed 11 May 2012.

WESTERN CAPE

Valentini, F., Compagnone, D., Gentili, A. and Palleschi, G. 2002. An electrochemical ELISA procedure for the screening of 17 beta-estradiol in urban waste waters. *Analyst*, **127** (**10**): 1333-1337.

Van Veld, P.A., Vogelbein, W.K., Cochran, M.K., Goksøyr, A. and Stegemanm, J.J. 1997. Route-specific cellular expression of cytochrome P4501A (CYP1A) in fish (*Fundulus heteroclirus*) following exposure to aqueous and dietary benzo[a]pyrene. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **142**: 348-359. Van Wyk, J.H., Pool, E.J. and Leslie, A.J. 2003. The effects of anti-androgenic and estrogenic disrupting contaminants on breeding gland (nuptial pad) morphology, plasma testosterone levels, and plasma vitellogenin levels in male *Xenopus laevis* (African clawed frog). *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, **44**: 247-256.

Vickers, A.E.M. 1994. Use of human organ slices to evaluate the biotransformation and drug induced side-effects of pharmaceuticals. *Cell Biology and Toxicology*, **10**: 407-414.

Voulvoulis, N. and Scrimshaw, M.D. 2003. In: Birkett, J.W. and Lester, J.N. (Editors), *Endocrine disrupters in wastewater and sludge treatment processes*, p59. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

Walker, M.K. and Peterson, R.E. 1991. Potencies of poly-chlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxin, dibenzofuran, and biphenyl congeners, relative to 2, 3, 7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin, for producing early life stage mortality in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquatic Toxicology, **21**: 219-238.

Wallace, R.A. 1985. Vitellogenesis and oocyte growth in non-mammalian vertebrates. In: Browder, L.W. (Editor), *Developmental Biology: A Comprehensive Synthesis*, **1**: 127-177. New York: Plenum Press.

Webb, M. 1979. Metallothionein. In: Webb, M. (Editor), *The chemistry, biochemistry and biology of cadmium*, 195-266. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Welch, W.J. 1992. Mammalian stress response: cell physiology, structure/function of stress proteins and implications for medicine and disease. *Physiological Reviews*, **72**: 1063-1081.

Wetzel, D.M. and Kelley, D.B. 1983. Androgen and gonadotropin effects on male mate calls in South African clawed frogs, *Xenopus laevis*. *Hormones and Behavior*, **17**: 388-404.

Whyte, J.J., Jung, R.E., Schmitt, C.J., and Tillitt, D.E. 2000. Ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) activity in fish as a biomarker of chemical exposure. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, **30**: 347-570.

Williams, D.E., Lech, J.J. and Buhler, D.R. 1998. Xenobiotics and xenoestrogens in fish: Modulation of cytochrome P450 and carcinogenesis. *Mutation Research*, **399:** 179-192.

Williams, M. 2007. Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals in the Australian Riverine Environment: A pilot study on estrogenic compounds. Canberra, A.C.T: Land & Water Australia.

Wittmann, C., Bier, F.F., Eremin, S.A. and Schmid, R.D. 1996. Quantitative analysis of 2, 4dichlorophenoxyacetic acid in water samples by two immunosensing methods. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **44:** 343-350.

Wong, R.B. and Ahmed, Z.H. 1992. Development of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for imazaquin herbicide. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **40**: 811-816.

JNIVERSITY of the

World Health Organisation (WHO). 2002. Executive Summary: Global assessment of the statesof-the-science of endocrine disruptors. *International Programme on Chemical Safety*, Available at: http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/en/ch2.pdf. Accessed 25 February 2012.

Zacharewski, T. 1997. *In vitro* bioassays for assessing estrogenic substances. *Environmental Science and Technology*, **31:** 613-623.